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CHESTERS’ ZUNBARG
DELIGHTFUL hide-away in the mountains
inviting people of . better taste. Wholesome

food, delightful companionship, outdoor sporta. Open
all year.
‘Woodbourne, N. Y. Tel. Fallsburg 2 F 22

RUSSIAN LESSONS

RUSSIAN TAUGHT
Simplified Method
Special Conversational Course for Tourists
has been very successful
MISS ISA WILGA
457 W, 57th St, COlumbus 5-8450 N. Y. C

RECORDED MUSIC

100 000 of the finest records in the world on sale
’ at 60c and 76¢ per record (value $1.50 & $2).
The Symphonies, Chamber Music, Operas, etc., of BACH,
BEETHOVEN, BRAHMS, MOZART, WAGNER, ete.
MAIL ORDERS. CATALOGUE.
THE GRAMOPHONE SHOP, INO.
18 East 48th Street New York City, N. Y.

ORANGES FOR SALE

ORANGES, sweet, juicy, sun-ripened on trees;
picked, shipped same day. Delivered, express
prepaid, $3.50 bushel basket. Tangerines $3.75;
grapefruit, $3.00. Satisfaction guaranteed. A. H.
Burket, Sebring, Fla.

LAUNDRY

LOWEST PRICES in city. Full list on request.
Strictly hand-work. Free call and delivery in
Manhattan, Free mending and darning. 10 percent
trial discount to NEw Masses readers.

GREENWICH VILLAGE

PRIVATE HAND LAUNDRY
14 Washington PLE. SPring 7-8769

HELP WANTED

GENTS to sell NEW MASSES subscriptions.

Live leads furnished. Commissions and ex-
penses for active workers. Apply: NEW MASSES
Midwest Bureau, Room 1500, 5 N. Wabash Ave.,
Chicago, any day at 3 P. M,

POSITION WANTED

SECRE’I’ARY, several years experience in mass
organization and private work; efficient and
adaptable; desirous steady position; moderate sal-
ary; excellent references. Box 718, New Masses.

SHARE APARTMENT

YOUNG couple wish to share apartment with
young lady; sunny, airy room in modern ele-
vator. Apt, 1, reasonable. Call WEst 7-4884.

PRIVATE PHOTO INSTRUCTION

INTENSIVE 5-week course in elements of photog-

raphy offered-to group of 10 students. Personal
instruction, experienced teacher; practical work em-
phasized. Begins January 19th. For further particu-
lars call or phone A. CARROLL, 49 E. 10th Street,
GRamercy 5-5620.

A e
We Licar Our First CanpLE

at the

NEW MASSES
BIRTHDAY PARTY

at the

hotel delano

108 W. 43rd Street, New York City

PAS
JANUARY 11, 1935

BEGINNING AT 9 P. M.

-:| DANCING UNTIL TWO A. M. [:-

DELANO BAND |:- -:l ENTERTAINMENT
[:- INCLUDING THE. WORKERS LABORATORY THEATRE -:|

Celebrate with us the first year of NEW MASSES as a weekly magazine!

Tickets on sale at
THE NEwW Masses, 31 East 27th Street, New York City
Telephone: CAledonia 5-3076

admigsion:

SEVENTY-FIVE CENTS IN ADVANCH ONE DOLLAR AT THE DOOR
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THE answer of American jingoism to

Japan’s ambitions in the Pacific is to
fling the “‘greatest armada in history”
over the western waters. Surface war-
ships to the number of 177 and 554 air-
planes will swing out in a field of 5,000,-
000 square miles of Pacific Ocean. The
huge sea force is to concentrate in late
April in the three strategic centers of
the west coast: the San Pedro-San Diego
area, San Francisco Bay and Puget
Sound. From there the main body will
proceed to Pearl Harbor, the gigantic
naval base at Honolulu, from which the
so-called “war games” will be directed

as far as Midway Island, 1,160 miles

west of Hawaii. The maneuvers were
ordered before Hirosi Saito delivered
Japan’s denunciation of the three-power
naval treaty, but their announcement
was timed to share the front page with
that event. More than fifty thousand
men will go with the ships, men like the
“Sailors of Cattaro” in the fine play
given by the Theater Union, indifferent-
ly fed and miserably paid. These men
come from thousands of working-class
homes, most of them on relief or on the
ragged edge of it. The ships were built
by American workers. The cost of the
maneuvers will mount into a staggering
sum per day. This bill also will be paid
by the American masses. What does the
jingo naval president Roosevelt, what
does Wall Street, care about all this, so
long as they can back up their fight with
Japan to gobble up Chinese and Latin
American markets? The scrapping of
the three-power naval ratio means the
scrapping of practically the last of the
arms “limitation” pacts entered into by
the powers in recent years. The four-
power pact and nine-power pact, as for-
mer Secretary of State Stimson declared,
are unworkable without the naval treaty.
Japan’s withdrawal from the League of
Nations will take effect in a few months.
The tense war situation of 1931, when
the fleet was last in the Pacific, will be
repeated. '

WITHIN a week, two items ap-

peared in the daily press which
shed considerable light, first, on the par-
lous nature of the business “recovery”
of the past year, second, the degree of
involvement of the government credit

DROPPING THE BALLAST

in that of private industry. Under the
date of Dec. 29, a Washington dispatch
to The New York Times reports that
during the year 1934 the P.W.A. ad-
vanced $193,276,500 to 30 railroads.
These moneys provided, according to
the dispatch, 150,000,000 man-hours of
work. They made possible the purchase
of the 15,000 new freight cars during
the year, the modernization of equip-
ment, the manufacture of the new

William Sanderson

streamlined trains, as well as the elec-
trification of the Pennsylvania Railroad
for nearly its entire route between New
York and Washington. These moneys
are, of course, an addition to the nearly
500 million dollars which have been ad-
vanced to the railroads by the R.F.C.
and which have gone not into direct pro-
duction and employment, but to pay in-
terest and principle on their funded debt
to the banks. The other news item is
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dated Denver, Dec. 21, and announced
that the R.F.C. had taken over and will
run the Denver & Salt Lake R.R., “to
protect federal loans to the Denver &
Rio Grande Western R.R.” of which
the Denver & Salt Lake is a part.

THE R.F.C., the report went on to

state, holds $10,763,150 of the $13,-
500,000 bonds and other obligations of
the road. With this move, it also be-
came known that the R.F.C., holds “as
collateral for loans, stock giving full or
part control of more than 5,000 miles of
line.” It is now admitted that some 75
railroads operating 16 percent of the
total mileage of the country are in re-
ceivership or in the hands of coordina-
tors, and that railroad insolvencies
would now be greater if it were not for
the P.W.A. and R.F.C. loans. Further-
more, during the coming year, millions
of dollars of railroad obligations fall
due which cannot possibly be met from
current income. The R.F.C. will either
have to advance these new millions to
save them from bankruptcy as well as
the banks and insurance companies that
hold large portions of these maturing
bonds, or take them over for operation,
as it did in the case of the Denver & Salt
Lake R.R.

T HESE revelations give added point

to our remarks in the preceding is-
sue of THE NEW Masses bearing on
the solvency of the banks and other
fiduciary institutions upon which the
government debt is being unloaded. The
greater part of the investments of our
insurance companies in 1934 were in
federal bonds. These holdings, amount-
ing to nearly 1.5 billion dollars, are now
double what they were two years ago.
Together with municipal and state obli-
gations—all among the most non-liquid
securities on the market—they comprise
about 30 percent of the assets of our in-
surance companies. Similarly with re-
spect to the banks. As of June 30, 1934,
the commercial banks of the country to-
gether with the twelve Federal Reserve
Banks held nearly 14 billion dollars
of the federal obligations. This was

more than half of the total federal debt.

at that time. By now this sum is of
course still larger, while the federal debt
is rapidly rising to a sum nearly three-
quarters the size of the total national in-
come. No wonder then the government
has had to pour billions of dollars into
the banks to keep them in operation
while most of their assets are becoming
frozen. Thus, nearly 40 percent of the

6% billion dollars advanced by the
R.F.C. since its establishment in Febru-
ary, 1932, has been advanced to the
banks. Banks received over $2,600,-
000,000 from the R.F.C. of which 134
billion dollars were loans to going insti-
tutions, or to closed banks for the pur-
pose of reorganization or liquidation,
and 920 million dollars went to the pur-
chase of bank shares to build up their
capital structure. According to Jesse
Jones, director of the R.F.C., some 500
million dollars more will be required to
keep the banks going. In this fashion, to
keep the credit and business structure of
the country from disintegrating, the gov-
ernment lends the “nation’s leaders” its
billions of credit, but to raise this credit
it must borrow from the banks on the
security of bonds which become tethers
on the banking structure. At this time,
according to no less an authority than
Professor James W. Angell of Colum-
bia University, the assets of the com-
mercial banks of the country are less
liquid than they were at the beginning of
the crisis.

TEALING turpentine; not ‘“‘dipping
his mule”; writing a letter to a
white girl; hitting back when attacked
by a white man—these were some of
the acts for which Negro workers were
lynched "last year. In six cases ‘“no
charge” was reported. In only three
cases was rape charged; in three other
lynchings the accusation was ‘“‘attempted
assault.” These facts are made public
by the International Labor Defense,
which lists a total of twenty-five lynch-
ings in 1934. One was committed in
New York State. Mississippi heads the
list with eight. Louisiana had four. “In
the present compilation,” says the 1. L.
D. report, “no murder was counted a
lynching unless three or more persons,
more or less organized for the purpose,
participated.” It points out that the ad-
dition to the list of Negroes murdered
by individuals or by police confident that
no punishment would follow “would
bring it up into the hundreds.” The
National Association for the Advance-
ment of Colored People lists only six-
teen lynchings for the year. Dr. Moton,
Negro educator and close friend of
white leaders, admits fifteen. He gives
his own state of Alabama only one, al-
though the cases of Early Cook at
Georgianna and of George Taylor at
Birmingham, both shot to death by
gangs, are well known. The policy of
Dr. Moton and the N.A.A.C.P. is to

minimize the responsibility of the upper
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class for the systematic subjection and
killing of Negro workers. They strike
off the list all lynchings in which they
find that police or state officers partici-
pated. They have no wish to emphasize
the fact that the Negro question has its
roots deep in the evils of the profit sys-
tem and southern feudal landlordism, on
which they thrive. The [.LL.D. statement
points out that the Federal enforcement
of the death penalty for lynchers is the
only weapon against it, but that this is
not to be expected without increased
mass pressure. The Department of Jus-
tice has consistently refused to use the
legal powers it already has to prevent
lynchings. President Roosevelt’s state-
ment in a speech before the Crime Com-
mission was widely construed as a tacit
acceptance of lynching so long as it was
confined to the South. The Bill for
Negro Rights and Suppression of Lynch-
ing proposed by the League of Struggle
for Negro Rights has the necessary
teeth. The bill can be forced on Con-
gress by persistent organized demands.

THE drive upon the Negro takes
varied form in various sections of
the land. The descendants of Jefferson
Davis and Simon Legree prefer the sim-
ple and time-honored Dixie form—out-
right lynching. The technique is more
subtle, more scientific, in the North. A
fair example is the order of a Chicago
court, that Jane Newton be examined
at Psychopathic Hospital for marrying
a Negro. The judge and the Chicago
Hearst editorial writers took a leaf out
of the Nazi book: like the Hitlerites
who declared “Frenchmen are not hu-
man beings,” the Americans tried to ex-
clude Negroes from that category. The
Northern adherents of Nordic suprem-
acy encountered a setback when the
psychiatrists pronounced Jane Newton
“not only sane but an exceptionally bril-
liant woman.” But the judge’s action and
its reception by the local newspapers-
prove to what lengths the ruling class
will go to suppress the fight for Negro
rights. Herbert Newton is a well known
Communist leader who has fought open-
ly and valiantly for the rights of all
workers. Therefore it was he and his
family who were singled out for so ma-
licious an attack. The entire incident
grew out of an effort to evict the New-
tons from a jimcrow apartment house.
The attempt was frustrated by the other
tenants and an organized delegation of
a hundred workers. Newton was ar-
rested on charges of ‘‘disorderly con-
duct.” As attempts increase to intro-
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duce Fascism into America the victimi-
zation of the Negro people increases. In
Germany the Nazis used the Jew as the
most convenient scapegoat. All indica-
tions here point to the inevitability that
the Negro as well as the Jew (and all
national minorities) will be the pretext
for a general drive upon the masses.

THE deluge of abuse which has de-

scended upon the Soviet Union for
executing a group of terrorists who were
seeking to overthrow the workers’ gov-
ernment has come from almost every
quarter. Liberals like Oswald Garrison
Villard and the editors of The New Re-
public have vied with Isaac Don Levine
and other Hearst writers in their de-
nunciation of what they are pleased to
call the “Soviet purge.” No one can be
amazed by the attitude of the Hearst
papers. Hearst, just back from Hitler’s
Germany which he defends in his papers,
chants exultantly in the New York
- American, “Stalin’s bridge is falling
down,” while his chief editorial writer,
the eminent pen-prostitute Brisbane, pre-
dicts the restoration of the monarchy in
Russia. But the wails of grief uttered
by the liberal press have been even more
violent than the yellow editorials of
Hearst. One can easily understand the
liberals’ “sympathy” for a “going con-
cern”’—with a nation which alone in this
period of dismal economics, can build
Dnieperstroys, improve living standards,

raise wages and abolish unemployment.
How can anybody passing as liberal
deny the epochal achievements of the
dictatorship of the proletariat? But the
proletariat cannot achieve its successes
without endless effort and ceaseless vig-
ilance. Revolutions don’t come plush-
lined “with all conveniences.” The ene-
mies of the Soviet Union are still mas-
ters of five-sixths of the globe and they
are determined to conquer that recalci-
trant one-sixth. Hence the assassina-
tions. Hence the executions. Events like
these turn up the color of men’s politics.
True class allegiances come to the top.
One must never forget that, after all,
the liberal mind, for all its precious
qualities, is fundamentally bourgeois.

HE creators and defenders of the

Soviet are profound students of his-
tory. They know.that a principal reason
for the failure of the Paris Commune
was a too great leniency toward the
enemy. Marx wrote concerning the
Communards of 1871: “If they are de-
feated only their ‘good nature’ will be to
blame.” He attributed a number of
fatal errors to the ‘‘too honorable
scruples” of the Parisian workingmen.
That “monstrous gnome’’ Thiers, leader
of the reaction, proved that counter-rev-
olution is always insanely vengeful.
After the Commune 40,000 men, wo-
men and children were mowed down—
the Seine flowed red for days. But the
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Communards of 1935—the Soviets—
have profited by history. They know
the enemies of the U.S.S.R.-will stop at
nothing, sabotage, arson, murder, to
achieve their goal: the utter demolition
of the Soviet system. Today’s Commu-
nards saw intervention in the years fol-
lowing the Revolution. They defeated
it. Today they see assassination. The
White Guardists succeeded in murdering
Kirov. Leonid Nicolaev and thirteen
other spies, arrested in Leningrad after
the Kirov assassination, have, in a two-
day trial before the Military Collegium
of the Soviet Supreme Court, been
proven guilty and executed. Nicolaev at
first declared his motives were personal
—discontent because of his family’s pov- -

.erty. He was given the lie by his own

family’s testimony. His confession re-
vealed a number of significant facts: first,
the existence of the “Leningrad center,”
a group of terrorists pledged to the
overthrow of the Soviet system; and
second, the relationship between this
group and a representative of an un-
named power who “offered to put them
in touch with Leon Trotsky.” As the
Military Collegium stated, ‘“The ses-
sion established that this secret terroris-
tic counter-revolutionary group, having
no hope of realizing its criminal pur-
poses except by terroristic actions inside
the country, was aiming at armed inter-
vention by foreign States.” Many of the
agents were recruited from among the
former Zinoviev-Kamenev-Trotsky op-
postion. Zinoviev and Kamenev, now in
custody, will be tried by a special com-
mission of the Commissariat of Internal

Affairs.

PLOT to “invade the White
House and kidnap the President

and his cabinet” is the latest fantastic
accusation levelled at Communists by
the Dickstein ‘‘un-American Commit-
tee.” The charge was made by Walter
S. Steele, of Washington, D. C., repre-
senting the American Coalition of Pa-
triotic, Civil and Paternal Societies.
The sole “evidence” is that the ‘“kidnap
plan” was discovered in a raid on the
Minneapolis Workers’ School during
the teamsters’ general strike last year.
On the same day that Mr. Steele ap-
peared, real and damaging evidence
was presented of embryo fascist moves
backed by American millionaires with
a longing to dictate. Albert G. Christ-
mas, secretary to Robert Sterling Clark,
stated that he turned over $154,000 of
Mr. Clark’s money to Gerald C. Mac-
Guire, Wall Street bond salesman. All
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but $33,000 was unaccounted for, but
it was testified that Mr. MacGuire had
$64,000 at the 1933 convention of the
American Legion in Chicago, with
which to swing the Legion’s support
of a “return to the gold standard.”
Also Samuel Glazier, an army captain
of Baltimore, told the committee that
Jackson Martindell approached him
with the proposal to launch the “Amer-
ican Vigilantes” 500,000 strong with a
backing of $700,000,000.

N element of the grotesque ap-
pears in all of these schemes, but
they nevertheless represent the desper-
ate determination of capitalists to pre-

serve themselves at all costs. That the
woods are full of rich men ready to
spend lavishly to bolster up any likely
candidate—a Smedley Butler, Lawrence
Dennis or William Pelley—is no sur-
prise to those who know the financial
backing given to Mussolini and Hitler
before they reached power. But in or-
der for fascist plans to succeed it is
necessary to silence Communism, to
smash the working class, beginning with
the Communist leadership, to attack
and distort Lenin’s teachings, to raise
the red scare. The Dickstein commit-
tee, orngmally set up to mvestlgate Nazi
propaganda in America, is carrying out
this anti-working class role with the

NEW MASSES

cheers of Hearst and the whole na-
tional machinery of radio and press.
When a committee of New York work:
ers visited Mr. Dickstein’s home to
protest, they were waylaid by police in
the hallways and blackjacked. . . . In
Chicago Hearst’s papers are inciting an
American Legion march ‘“‘against the
reds,” called for Jan. 4. . .. Powerful
protests should pour in to the members
of the “un-American Committee.” Mr.
Hearst must be faced with a boycott by
masses of readers. A beginning has
been made in this direction in Chicago.
A city-wide rally there on Jan. 8, will
be the signal for launching an anti-
Hearst movement through the country.

Betrayal by the N.A.A.C.P.

LSEWHERE in this issue we pub-
lish an article by Martha Gruen-
ing on the Crawford case, a case

widely known because it posed the ques-
tion of the right of Negroes to serve
on juries in the South—a fundamental
question in the struggle of twelve mil-
lion Negroes for civil rights. Miss
Gruening, who is frankly a liberal and
retains faith in the court structure of
this country, has compiled an indictment
against the policy of the National As-
sociation for the Advancement of Col-
ored People, which “defended” Craw-
ford.

The N.A.A.C.P. and its supporters,
The Nation and the Pittsburgh Courier,
have belabored the International Labor
Defense in season and out for its tac-
tics. Few editions of these publications
appear without an attack upon the I. L.
D.’s position: that there can be no
compromise in the fight for the rights
of the Negro people, in the struggle
for civil liberties of the working class.

Many persons ignorant of the issues
involved have often asked—Who is
right, the I.LL.D. or the N.A.A.C.P.?
The I.L.D. contends that legal defense
must be bolstered by the concerted pres-
sure of the masses of the people. The
N.A.A.C.P. insists that courts are
“fair,” that “‘gentlemanly conduct” will
get you further than “rowdy” demon-

- stration.

The first sensation in the Crawford
case was Judge James A. Lowell’s re-
fusal in Massachusetts to extradite the
defendant to Virginia, on the ground that
there the defendant would be denied his

_portant” than Scottsboro.

“constitutional rights.” The judge’s
wish, however, to re-establish the con-
ception of “impartiality’” was promptly
repudiated by the higher courts—the
Federal Court of Appeals and the Vir-
ginia court. Nevertheless the N.A.A.-
C.P. refused to change its stand and
reiterated its faith in the courts.

The jury question, fundamental in
the struggle for Negro rights, towered
over every other issue here. The N.A.-
A.C.P. collected funds on this basis.
It declared this case to be “more im-
It loudly
avowed its faith in Crawford’s inno-
cence. At the trial, however, represent-
atives of the N.A.A.C.P. failed to pro-
duce Negroes qualified to sit on the
jury to prove the violation of their con-
stitutional rights. The jury commis-
sioner, a Southerner with all a South-
ern Bourbon’s prejudices, said they had
not found “any colored man of the
County who seemed qualified for the
service.”” Dr. Charles H. Houston,
counsel for defense, “in a gentlemanly
way” accepted the word of these “hon-

_orable gentlemen.”

Crawford, of course, was found
guilty, by an all-white jury, composed
chiefly of farmers who require docile
Negro help for their plantations. They
honored Dr. Houston’s wish to spare
the defendant the gallows so that Craw-
ford could help convict a Negro whom,
in his forced confession, he had impli-
cated in the murder. Crawford got life.
And this the N.AA.C.P. hailed as
a great victory!

Despite the fact that the jury rights

of the twelve million Negroes in this
country were involved, Houston told
the press that “under no circumstances
did he plan to press for a reversal by a
higher court.”

These facts are readily ascertainable
by examination of the records. They

have been compiled for us by one who "

has worked with the N.A.A.C.P. in
the past and who is puzzled and re-
pelled by their conduct of _this case.
The N.A.A.C.P. cannot insist that
this is “Red slander.” Honest indi-
viduals from their own class can no
longer keep silent at such betrayal.
This is not the first time the N.A.-
A.C.P. has abandoned the field. In
1931 it retained Steven Roddy, a K.
K. K. lawyer, who left the Scottsboro
boys to face the electric chair, without
filing an appeal. In 1933 Dr. Houston
“defended” Crawford into a life term.
The upshot of the question is this:
the I.L.D., composed chiefly of work-
ers, understands that there are two
classes, and that the courts belong to
the ruling class. The N.A.A.C.P.
under the dominance of white and Ne-
gro bourgeois reformers, attempts to
deny the conflict of class interests. The
I.L.D., based on class struggle, knows
that mass pressure upon the courts fun-
damentally affects the court’s decision—
in the same sense that mass pressure by
strikers fundamentally affects the em-
ployers’ position on wages, hours, liv-
ing conditions. The N.A.A.C.P. is
an instrument to conceal these class
truths, and the Crawford case is incon-
trovertible evidence of its real role.
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Terror in “Liberal” Wisconsin

MILWAUKEE.
I N THE first week of December a reign

of terror against the workers of Racine,

Wisconsin, began that has shown no
signs of abatement to date. The acts of fas-
cist violence have been directed against the
working-class organizations in general and the
Communist Party in particular.

This terrorism has been unleashed because
of a whole series of successful struggles for
relief waged by the employed and unemployed
together. These organized demonstrations and
protests have been led by such varied groups
as the militant Wisconsin Emergency Relief
Administration Workers (W.ER.A)); Un-
employment Council ; Unemployed Workers’
Committee of Action; and the Communist
Party.

Events leading directly up to the terror
were the Horlick strike; the occupying of the
relief station by the unemployed for more than
three hours; the packing of the seventh floor
of the Court House by the workers to present
their demands for increased relief to the
County Board; later, the removal of a door
by the workers in order to get into these
same chambers; and finally — a picket line,
four blocks long, that demonstrated at the
Court House and paraded along Main Street
to the relief station. The demands presented
were very immediate and broad ones to which
every worker subscribed.

Racine is a city of about 67,000 and is con-
trolled by Horlick’s, the First National Bank,
Nash, J. I. Case and other similar corpora-
tions. Mayor Swoboda is an ex-Socialist and
one of his principal pastimes is putting on
sham battles with Chief of Police Lutter.

The bosses answered the growing militancy
of the workers by organizing a “Vigilantes
Committee” with the help of the police, Amer-
ican Legion officials and a few high-priced
union chair warmers. The committee’s first
step was to announce in its own name and
that of the American Legion that it would
“drive the reds out of town by physical force.”
They then raided the headquarters of the Ra-
cine section of the Communist Party at goo
State Street. The doors were torn down,
furniture smashed, papers, etc. taken and de-
stroyed and the headquarters wrecked gener-
ally. Meetings protesting against the raid,
several held in public schools, were broken
up. Many of the meetings were not spon-
sored by the Communist Party but by other
workers’ organizations.

The Chamber of Commerce now began
publicly demanding a fascist terror against the
Communist Party and all militant workers,
through its mouthpiece, The Racine Journal-
Times, supported by Horlick. The Bar As-
sociation of Racine County, headed by large
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corporation lawyers, issued a long statement
demanding that “radicals” (class-conscious
workers) be tried under criminal-syndicalism
charges—pointing out the existing statute that
could be used for this purpose, since there
is no criminal-syndicalism law in Wisconsin,
a “liberal” state.

The Communist Party immediatély re-es-
tablished its office in the same building and
arranged for a large protest meeting Dec. 8.
Many workers’ organizations were to be rep-
resented and a delegation of liberals (includ-
ing a minister) and members of the Milwau-
kee branch of the League Against War and
Fascism went to Racine. Lutter, the police
chief, had vowed that not another meeting of
“the Communists” would take place in Ra-
cine and he persuaded the landlord to refuse
the use of the hall which had been rented.
The meeting was held in another hall.

Then the headquarters of the Communist
Party were stoned and windows smashed by
hooligans. The police made no efforts to
catch the hoodlums merely announcing that
they were “looking for them.” The League
Against War and Fascism organized a protest
meeting that was addressed by liberals, Social-
ists and Communists. The police chief said
he had “been caught napping” but repeated
that no further meetings would be held.

The Racine local of the Socialist Party
and the Central Trades Council wasted no
time in issuing statements and protests against
this terrorism. The essence of their statements
was that though they did not agree with the
political line of the Communist Party, etc.,
they protested against the tactics of the vigi-
lantes against the Communist Party and work-
ers in general. Because of the tremendous
rank and file sympathy in the Socialist Party
and in the unions for the Communist work-
ers, sympathizers, etc., there was little else
for the leaders to do. Moreover, it seems
the lessons of Germany and Austria have be-
gun to sink into the heads of the more sincere
leaders of some S. P, locals.

On Deec. 13, in the morning, Sam Herman,
one of thé Communist Party organizers of
Racine, was kidnaped from a busy street by
two gangsters and driven to the outskirts of
the town, where he escaped after a bloody
beating. A witness stated that, “Two police-
men saw everything that went on when he
was kidnaped downtown and never did a
thing.”

Herman asked the gangster holding him in
the back seat if he was a police officer and
received the reply, “Don’t ask me anything
or I'll smash your face in.” They asked him
where Sekat lived. (Sekat is section organizer
of Racine and out on bail in connection with
the Horlick strike, in which he was framed-

up.) Herman refused to answer. “Sekat is
in for the same thing you are going to get,”
the kidnaper said. '

The following night a meeting was held in
Sokol Hall, attended by workers of all par-
ties and organizations. It met to protest the
attack on Herman, to take action in his de-
fense, and to combat the general fascist activi-
ties in Racine. Suddenly the windows in the
hall were shattered by rocks. The workers
ran outside, saw two hooligans running to-
ward a waiting car, and ran after them. As
they closed in on the hoodlums a squad of
police rushed out of the darkness of a side
street and began pummelling and tackling the
workers in football fashion, Meanwhile, the
rock throwers escaped.

Herman went to the district attorney’s office
and was signing John Doe warrants for the
arrest of his kidnapers when he was arrested
at the instigation of Lutter on the charges of
“criminal libel.” These charges are. based on
the statement of Herman issued to the press:
“I openly charge that Chief of Police Lutter,
has knowledge of and was one of the organ-
izers of this attack by the underworld ele-
ment who kidnaped me on State Street yes-
terday before noon. . . . If anything happens
to me he will be the guilty one. . . . This is
the Merry Christmas that Lutter has prepared
for the unemployed: a Merry Christmas of
terror. ‘The struggle will go on, as such fas-
cist terror has never in histery succeeded in
stopping courageous fighters and their move-
ments from carrying on.”

This is a portion of the statement Lutter
called, “belligerent and false.” Herman’s bail
was set at $2,500.

During an investigation now being made by
certain individuals from Milwaukee into the
gangster-police-Legion-Mayor-Big Business tie-
up in Racine a legionnaire under questioning
admitted that the only “violent” action he
could think of the “Reds” committing was
their taking the door of the council chambers
off its hinges, as mentioned earlier in this
article.

Hundreds of protests have poured in on
Mayor Swoboda, the Fire and Police Commis-
sion, Chief of Police Lutter and Gov. Schme-
deman. Several delegations have gone to Ra-
cine from Milwaukee and a student and pro-
fessional delegation is being organized at the
University of Wisconsin by the N. S. L. and
the L. I. D. to present protests personally.

The terrorism since Herman’s kidnaping
has continued. Workers have been arrested
and intimidated ; the store windows of two of
Herman’s bondsmen have been smashed, but
as Herman stated, “The struggle will go on,
as such fascist terror has never in history suc-
ceeded in stopping courageous fighters and
their movements from carrying on.”
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The Truth about the Crawford Case

How the N.A.A.C.P “Defended” A Negro Into a Life Sentence

I will maintain the confidence and preserve
inviolate the secrets of my client . . . so help

me God.
The Lawyer’s Oath of Admission.

. The National Association for the Advancement
of Colored People launched this week a South-
wide campaign on the unconstitutional expulsion
of Negroes from grand juries. Detailed instruc-
tions on procedure prepared by attorney Leon A.
Ransom and Charles Houston of the Association’s
. National Legal Committee were mailed to 112
branches in Southern and border states urging
that immediate and vigorous steps be taken to
fight further exclusion of Negroes from juries.
The suggested outline of procedure is based upon
that followed by the two. noted lawyers in the
celebrated George Crawford case in Virginia.
News Release of the N.A.A.C.P.
October 11, 1934,

T IS of course good news that a South-
wide campaign on the unconstitutional
exclusion of Negroes from juries has been

launched at any time. In view of the actual
procedure of the “two noted members of the
N.A.A.C.P.’s National Legal Committee” in
the “Celebrated George Crawford case,” how-
ever, the news is somewhat less exhilarating.
Crawford, it will be recalled, was convicted
in Leesburg, Virginia, by a petit jury from
which Negroes were illegally excluded after
being indicted by a grand jury drawn in the
same manner. He is now in the state peniten-
tiary at Richmond serving two consecutive
life sentences, one imposed by the above-
mentioned jury, one by a white judge on the
second indictment to which Crawford pleaded
guilty in fear of his life after being aban-
doned by his attorney, Charles Houston, who
refused to plead for him. Mr. Houston
further stated on this occasion, according to
the stenographic transcript of this hearing,
that he would not be a party to the proceed-
ings “if Crawford is going to repudiate his
offer to me to help locate and identify Charlie
Johnson” (my italics). “Charlie Johnson”
was Crawford’s alleged accomplice in the
murder of two white women in Virginia.
Some months later, when Mr. Houston was
engaged in a controversy with Helen Board-
man and myself over the conduct of the case,
the results of which were published in The
Nation, he was still trying to run down Char-
lie Johnson and stated that he considered this
was ‘“‘a duty of the N.A.A.C.P. owed to the
state of Virginia.” Walter White, secretary
of the N.A.A.C.P., who was present, when
asked whether he agreed to this, refused to
commit himself saying the matter was not one
for him to pass on, but should be referred to
the National Legal Committee. Mr. Houston
should not however be confused with the pros-
ecution in this case. Although it may seem a
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little puzzling at times to New Masses read-
ers, I ask them to remember that Mr. Hous-
ton was retained and acted until his desertion
of Crawford at the second indictment as
counsel for the defense. In this capacity, more-
over, he and his associates did a very thorough
job of examining jury rolls in the Virginia
counties in question and showed conclusively
that Negroes were systematically and illegally
excluded from them. Then, when Crawford
had been convicted and sentenced by such a
jury, they not only did not appeal the case
but Mr. Houston, on the day after sentence
was imposed, wrote the Virginia prosecuting
attorney that the National Association was
anxious to wind up the case and offered to
plead Crawford guilty to the second indict-
ment in return for a second life sentence.
Why? To this question neither we nor any-
one else interested in the case has ever received
a satisfactory reply from anyone connected
with the defense in its later stages. The facts
we learned, however, in seeking such a reply
are as follows:

On January 13, 1932, Mrs. Agnes Boeing
Ilsley, a wealthy white woman, and her elderly
maid, Mrs. Mina Buckner, were found mur-
dered in the chauffeur’s cottage on the Ilsley
estate at Middleburg, Virginia. Their heads
had been bashed in apparently by some blunt
instrument, believed then and later by the
prosecution to be an iron bootjack which was
found covered with dried blood and hair in
Mrs. Ilsley’s bedroom. The murder was re-
ported by Mrs. Ilsley’s younger brother, Paul
Boeing, who had been staying with her at the
cottage and usually slept there. On the night
before the murder, according to Paul Boeing’s
story, he had not slept at the cottage as was
his habit but had gone to sleep in the big house
on the estate to guard it from burglars, tak-
ing his dog with him. He guarded it from
burglars by sleeping in an attic room on the
third floor. He had been disturbed only once
during the night by the banging of a shutter,
but had gone to sleep again and slept through
the rest of the night with no inkling of the
tragedy at the cottage. At about nine o’clock
the next morning he had returned to the cot-
tage for breakfast and, on discovering the
bodies, had rushed out in his pajamas and
overcoat to give the alarm.

Paul Boeing inherited $25,000 under his
sister’s will and there were rumors also that
he was the beneficiary of a large life-insur-
ance policy carried by her. These rumors we
have been unable to verify. The estate super-
intendents of insurance for Virginia and Wis-
consin—where Mrs. Boeing had formerly
lived—stated in reply to letters about it that

the issuing and paying of such policies was
not a matter of public record in either state.
Mr. Houston last spring stated to us that the
rumor was absurd and entirely without foun-
dation but we were never able to learn what
investigation if any he had made in the matter
to reach this conclusion.

Paul Boeing was admittedly the discoverer
of the bodies, the first person known to the
authorities at the scene of the crime. He had,
as one of Mrs. Ilsley’s heirs, a pecuniary in-
terest in and a possible motive for desiring
her death. Yet he was not detained at the
time and never, apparently, thoroughly ques-
tioned by either the Virginia or the county
authorities. As Mr. Charles Houston put it,
“Paul Boeing’s friends would not let the
authorities question him because he was un-
nerved.” Some of these same friends further
protected the understandably hysterical young
man by carrying him off in an automobile to
a neighboring estate and the authorities had
to content themselves with rounding up Bertie
de Neal, the former sweetheart of a former
Negro chauffeur employed on the Ilsley estate
and other poor colored people who were pre-
sumably not too ‘“unnerved” or too influential
to be questioned.

The murder, as stated above, was discover-
ed at about nine o’clock of January 13. The
afternoon Washington and Richmond papers
for this same date already carried the story
that a Negro chauffeur and ex-convict was
being hunted for the crime. In fact, as Frank
Getty wrote in The Washington Post,
December 31, 1933, in reporting the Craw-
ford case:

Within an hour the fox hunting set to which
Mrs. Ilsley belonged was riding an impassioned
lathery man hunt from town to town through the
bleak North Virginia countryside seeking a Negro
suspect.

There was at this time not a shred of evi-
dence to connect the Negro, Crawford with
the crime. As far as anyone knew he had left
the Ilsley estate—presumably for the North—

. the previous September. Within a day or two,

however, witnesses had been found who saw
or claimed to have seen him in the vicinity of
the crime within twenty-four hours of it, and
the man hunt increased in intensity.

Who was this George Crawford? He was
actually an ex-convict, a mulatto in his late
twenties or early thirties who had originally
come from Georgia. In 1930 he was serving
an eleven-year sentence for larceny in the
penitentiary at Richmond with additional
time for attempts to escape. At this time
he saved the life of a prison guard, A. N.
Coleman, when the latter was knifed by
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another convict. Crawford, who was a
Trusty and is a short, stocky very muscular
man, not only intervened at the risk of his
own life but carried the guard out to a-car
and drove with him at top speed to the home
of the prison doctor, thus, in the latter’s
opinion, saving his life. This prison doctor,
Dr. Holt, was so impressed with the presence
of mind shown by Crawford on this occasion
that he helped him to obtain a pardon and
Crawford later worked for him as a chauffeur.
Doctor Holt at the time of Crawford’s re-
lease was occupying the cottage at which the
murder later occured. Crawford seems also
to have done some odd jobs and acted as
chauffeur sometimes for Mrs. Ilsley. During
this time some liquor was stolen from the big
house and Mrs. Ilsley suspected Crawford and
tried to swear out a warrant against him. She
failed because there was no evidence to con-
nect Crawford with the theft. In September
of the same year Crawford disappeared. As
was learned later he went to Boston taking
with him Mrs. Bertie de Neal, who had been
Mrs. Ilsley’s cook and who left her husband
and children to go with him.

There was at the time the murder was
discovered no known reason except Craw-
ford’s prison record to connect him with it,
and the scene afforded no clues to bolster the
case against him. Indeed in early reports the
motive for the crime was said to be something
of a mystery. The first report was that no
robbery had been committed ‘for Mrs. Ilsley’s
fur coat and a purse full of money were found
near the body and valuable rings on her fin-
gers. Later it was said that some cheap
jewelry belonging to the maid was -missing,
but actually there was so little indication of
robbery that the bodies were examined for
evidence of criminal assault in the hope of
establishing “the usual Negro crime” as the
motive. When this failed it was said by those
who were hell-bent on fastening the crime on
Crawford that the motive was revenge—that
Crawford returned to Virginia and murdered
the two women because Mrs. Ilsley had tried
to swear out a warrant against him the pre-
vious summer.

The story was spread that Mrs. Ilsley was
afraid of him, that she had tried to swear out
another warrant against him for a burglary
committed at the big house on Christmas Eve,
1931; and that on the day before her death
she had driven into Washington and consulted
a private detective agency in regard to pro-
tection against him. This, however, was denied
by Paul Boeing at Crawford’s trial at which
he testified that his sister had never been
afraid of Crawford or had any trouble with
him and that he did not know why she had
consulted the detective if she had. It was also
said immediately after the murder that micro-
scopic tests revealed particles of a Negro’s
skin and hair under Mrs. Ilsley’s nails, though
this, too, was shown at the trial not to have
been conclusively established. It was on such
evidence, however, that the man hunt proceed-
ed, supplemented by the discovery, within
twenty-four hours of the murder, of Mrs.

Ilsley’s stolen car, which was found aban-

doned just outside Washington and was said

to contain evidence incriminating Crawford—
no less than a note in his handwriting.

For a year no trace of the suspect was
found. This is the more remarkable because
Bertie de Neal who had left him in December
before the murder and returned to Middle-
burg, was rounded up and badgered every so
often by the authorities. On one occasion they
actually intercepted a letter and a fur coat

.sent to her by Crawford from Boston. On
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January 13, 1933, however, a Negro giving
the name of Joseph Taylor was arrested in
Boston on suspicion of burglary. While he
was being held for trial on this charge it was
discovered that his fingerprints tallied with
those of the George Crawford wanted in
Virginia for the Middleburg murders. These
fingerprints, however, were not found at the
scene of the crime—none in fact were ever
found there or in Mrs. Ilsley’s car—but were
those taken at the time of Crawford’s earlier
conviction in Richmond.

The N.A.A.C.P Enters the Case

It was at this stage that the N.A.A.C.P.
entered the case and through its Boston
Branch put up a vigorous and effective fight
for Crawford. As soon as his identity had
become known, John Galleher, Virginia com-
monwealth attorney had come North to press
the demand for extradition. The question was
argued before the Massachusetts attorney
general Bacigalupo on February 7 and 8,
1933. At these hearings Crawford was rep-
resented by Butler Wilson, a Negro lawyer
and president of the Boston branch of the
N.A.A.C.P. and by J. Weston Allen a former
attorney general of the state. They introduced
evidence to show that the alleged confession
obtained from Crawford by Galleher had been
obtained by duress and in violation of Craw-
ford’s constitutional rights, evidence tending
to impeach the credibility of the witness who
claimed to have seen Crawford in Virginia
within a short time of the murder, evidence
based on Helen Boardman’s investigations for
the N.A.A.C.P. in Middleburg showing the
improbability of Crawford’s getting a fair
trial in Virginia and finally they produced
seven reputable witnesses to Crawford’s pres-
ence in Boston from September, 1931, to Feb-
ruary, 1932. On February 18, however, Gov-
ernor Ely granted the extradition. On the
same day Mr. Wilson applied to the late
Judge Lowell for a writ of habeas corpus.

On February 28 Judge Lowell handed
down his famous decision refusing extradition
on the ground that to return Crawford to
Virginia for trial was to violate his constitu-
tional rights since Virginia deliberately ex-
cluded Negroes from her grand and petit
juries. It was an epoch-making decision—one
of the clearest, strongest declarations in favor
of the Negro’s constitutional rights yet made
in America, in itself an achievement to which
the N.A.A.C.P. might well point with pride.
This decision, however, was immediately ap-
pealed to the U. S. Circuit Court of Appeals
which promptly reversed it, and when the
U. S. Supreme Court refused to review the
Circuit Court’s decision, Crawford was re-
turned to Virginia. This was in October,
1933. The amended plea in the habeas corpus
proceedings had been based in part on in-
vestigation made in Virginia, by Charles
Houston, vice-dean of the Howard University
Law School. After the extradition the case was
in the hands of Mr. Houston who was as-

sisted by Leon Ransom, Edward Lovett, and
James G. Tyson, all colored lawyers of Wash-
ington, D. C.

What followed is a matter of record.
Throughout the summer publicity and appeals
for funds were sent out from the N.A.A.C.P.’s
national office. One such appe;d, carried on
the back cover of The Crisis, the organ of the
association, was worded in part as follows:

Careful and exhaustive investigations by the
N.A.A.C.P. have established that Crawford was
in Boston at the time Mrs. Ilsley and her maid
were murdered in Virginia.

Victory means, first, snatching an innocent man
from the electric chair and second, that states
like individuals must come into court with clean
hands.... Rush funds by telegraph, special de-
livery, or regular mail today to the National
Association for the Advancement of Colored
People, 69 Fifth Avenue, New York City.

Nothing was said in this appeal or any other
that I ever saw about funds to help Virginia
run down Charlie Johnson. It would seem
reasonably clear from it that the N.A.A.C.P.
at this time either believed in the innocence
of Crawford and meant to put up a fight for
him or was out to give this impression.
The first intimation to the contrary began to
appear in the reports of the trial held in De-
cember in the daily press. Particularly disturb-
ing and puzzling were the reports in The
Woashington Post which covered the trial per-
haps more fully than any other paper.

On December 15, 1933, the story carried
by The Post read in part as follows:

The defense in the Crawford trial tonight
abandoned all plans for an attempt to prove an
alibi. . .. :

Confronted throughout the day with an array
of uncontested testimony regarding George Craw-
ford’s presence near the scene of the crime on
the night before the crime, Charles Houston,
chief of the defense counsel, announced no alibi
witnesses would be called. (My italics.)

On December 16 The Post said:

The defense lost an important point today
upon the judge’s ruling admitting the confession
and 7o attempt was made to show that George
Crawford . . . did not take part in the crime.
It had been generally admitted that if the pros-
ecution had been unsuccessful in introducing the
Boston confession the case against Crawford
awould not have collapsed. (My italics.)

On December 17, reporting the conviction
and life sentence, The Post said:
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"Defense attorneys announced they would not
appeal. Actually they were overjoyed. . . . The
Negro’s attorneys headed by Dean Houston shook
the prisoner’s hand and then washed their hands
of the case.

And finally on December 31, Frank Getty,
the Post reporter, summing up the trial in a
feature article amplified these statements as
follows:

They [the four Negro lawyers] could hardly
find a man or woman, black or white, to say a
good word for their client.l . .. He lied to his
counsel and deceived them into taking the case,
then confessed . . . and admitted that he had par-
ticipated in the murder of two white women. . . .
Palpably nonplussed . . . Dr. Houston, unable to
put his obviously guilty client on the stand
entered no defense whatever (My italics.)

How Getty and other reporters got the
information on which such articles written be-
fore the time for Crawford’s appeal had ex-
pired were based, has never been satisfactorily
answered. There was at this time no public
confession by Crawford on record except the
obviously phony and wholly discredited confes-
sion allegedly made by him to Galleher in
Boston, which he had consistently repudiated
and refused to sign and which defense counsel

1 Counsel seem to have been particularly assidu-
ous in spreading this report. It was quoted to me
as coming from Mr. Houston on several occasions.
Helen Boardman, however, found a number of peo-
ple in Virginia who spoke well of Crawford as I
did in Boston. Helen Boardman furnished this in-
formation, with names and addresses to counsel—in
fact in her desire to help the defense she handed
over all her notes of her Virginia investigations, but
Mr. Houston failed to see, with one exception, any
of the people favorable to Crawford whose names
she gave them.

had tried unsuccessfully to exclude at the trial.
In the January Crisis, however, which ap-
peared late in December, 1933, Walter White
in a signed article entitled “George Craw-
ford—Symbol” hailed the “conclusion of the
Crawford case as one of the most distinguished
victories for justice to the Negro yet won”
and referred to Crawford at a time when the
latter was still facing trial on the second in-
dictment, was still in jeopardy of his life and
when the N.A.A.C.P. was still supposedly de-
fending him as “guilty under the law and by
his own confession” and again as “guilty of
a horrible double murder.”

In response to questions put to him at the
annual business meeting of the association
early in January, 1934, Mr. White explained
this by saying that the N.A.A.C.P. had taken
the case believing in Crawford’s innocence,
but that he was -in fact guilty and had con-
fessed on tle eve of the trial in a private
interview with Mr. Houston. The circum-
stances, according to Mr. White, were that
Mr. Houston had interviewed Crawford’s
former sweetheart, Bertie de Neal, in jail
where she was being detained as a witness,
that she had been reluctant to speak at first,
but under prompting from the sheriff had
admitted that she knew Crawford was in the
vicinity of Middleburg on the day before the
murder. Mr. Houston had immediately re-
turned to Crawford’s cell and “confronted”
him with this story and Crawford had broken
down and confessed. Subsequently we got a
somewhat different version from Mr. Hous-
ton, but he admitted that this was the one he
had for some reason, given to Walter White.
The chief discrepancy in the two versions
relates to the time of Crawford’s confession,
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Walter White stating and apparently believ-
ing that this had occurred just before the
trial, and that counsel up to this time believed
in Crawford’s innocence and meant to use
the alibi witnesses, while Mr. Houston stated
that he doubted Crawford’s story almost as
soon as he started investigating in Virginia.

According to Mr. Houston, moreover,
Crawford did not break down and confess all
at once but made several different, contra-
dictory and partial statements at various times.
He was not satisfied even last spring that
Crawford had at any time told the whole truth.
“I never could get him to admit striking Mrs.
Buckner,” he said at one of our conferences.
(My italics.)

Why he did not trust Walter White with
these alleged facts before the latter wrote
The Crisis article or undertook to explain the
case to the N.A.A.C.P. members at the annual
meeting is one of the minor mysteries in this
very mysterious business.

Lack of space forbids any detailed account
of the efforts made by Helen Boardman and
others to get a more satisfactory and adequate
explanation of the defense’s failure to. defend
Crawford and in particular to weigh the un-
shaken testimony of the alibi witnesses
against the much less credible prosecution wit-
nesses in Virginia. After several months of
correspondence between Miss Boardman, Mr.
White and Mr. Houston, the only tangible
results had been the abrupt and somewhat
mysterious termination of Helen Boardman’s
job with the Association. Somewhat later Dr.
Du Bois attempted to raise some questions
as to the handling of the case in The Crisis.
The Board of Directors of the N.A.A.C.P.

thereupon passed a gag rule to prevent such
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“MR. HOUSTON SAYS HE WILL GET ME OUT IN TWO YEARS.”

Facsimile reproduction from George Crawford’s letter to a friend in Boston written on

January 6, 1934 from Henrico jail.

In the first part of this letter Crawford says:

* “I am not so well but thank God I am still living,” declares he is innocent of
the crime, and asks that some money, food and cigarettes be sent to him.
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A FIFTH NTRERT. N.W

Miss Helen Boardman,
140 Claremont Avenue,
New York City,

My dear Miss Boerdmen:

all verified hig

Zfo b on

in Boston Januery 12-13, 19

facts,

ing in my posssassion,

© interview the alibi wtnese;s.

Crawford in Boston before February,

them down to dates. The reaso re—birey—tus 5 “E5 :

st e o hearing :astm{ttor sentimental reastion that
g wou ave agains etti another Negro be ret

to a Southern state on the charge na eg P

we hed subpoenaed them and got them to testify that Crawford was

we would have been suborning per jury,

eir testimony did not represent the

38,

for we wculd have known that th

HowarRD UNIVERSITY
WASHINGTON, D.C,

POUNDED BY GENERAL O. 0. HOWARD

31 Maroch 1934

Answering your letter of March 25

1, We did not use the Boston alibi witnesses because we
knew their stories oould not help us,
we personally contacted all the colored people he mentioned es
having seen on his last trip into Virginia :

After Crawford's confession

fore th 3 :
. Tyson went to Boston
None of them wis able to place

1932 when one actually pinned
» : : : 2 aia
any

1hIBva N

of murdering a white woman. If

‘ru'AJ-

2, We checked up on every detail/of th ?
to locate the articles stolem anX oty wenooun xcept

checked on Crawford's movements, interviewed the olice
quently obtained Crawford's clo%hing from the houga mea'gngeml:zze
abandoned it when he fled from Washington.

the lethal weapon, We

I still have the cloth-

3. I have already indicated that Ransom and son check
up on the Boston witnesses by personal interviews 1n"[%oston. =

Yours sincerely,

(PRI e

arles H, Houston.

The N.A.A.C.P. lawyer explains why he didn’t use Crawford’s alibi witnesses.
statement that two lawyers went to Boston to interview the alibi witnesses.

Note the
Compare

with the affidavits of the witnesses, on the page opposite, that they talked
- with no lawyers after the extradition hearings.

questions in The Crisis in the future, thus
precipitating a dispute which finally ended
with Dr. Du Bois’s resignation as editor.
Crawford, meanwhile was in the Henrico
County Jail in Richmond awaiting trial on
the second indictment, that of murdering
Mrs. Buckner. There is some evidence that
the state contemplated no further action
against him. On February 10, 1934, how-
ever, The Norfolk (Virginia) Journal and
Guide, a Negro weekly, carried a feature ar-
ticle purporting to be an interview with Craw-
ford. In this he said that he was dissatisfied
with his trial, that he could not understand
why the alibi witnesses had not been called,
that he had been “framed” and that he did not
know “Charlie Johnson” and could not iden-
tify him (the reason for which his life had
supposedly been spared at the first trial). He
also stated that he would not of his own free
will plead guilty to the Buckner indictment.

‘admitted knowing Charlie

Just two days later, Crawford was suddenly
brought to Leesburg to plead to this indict-
ment. It was on this occasion that, as stated
above, Mr. Houston refused to make Craw-
ford’s plea, leaving him at this crucial moment
without benefit of counsel and that Crawford
—in terror of his life—recanted the interview,
Johnson and
pleaded guilty as he said in answer to a ques-
tion from the judge “of his own free will.”

According to The Loudoun Times-Mirror
for February 15, 1934:

Judge Alexander, Galleher and Houston were
closeted in one of the jury rooms before sentence
was passed and it was understood that the pur-
ported interview was discussed, = Houston had
previously made it clear that he regarded Craw-
ford as an unreliable client and washed his
hands of the case. Houston asked the court to
state to Crawford that one of the conditions of
the sentence was that he aid the state in running
down Johnson,
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Mr. Houston not only never denied or re-
sented this story but gave substantially the
same version of what took place in a letter to
The Journal and Guide, which appeared in
that paper for February 17, 1934. He also
made some further statements that seemed to
us interesting in view of the version of Craw-
ford’s confession given at the annual meeting
by Walter White.

As to the alibi [wrote Mr. Houston] we fully
investigated this phase of the case. Messrs. Ran-
som and Tyson spent three days in Boston. It
would have been impossible even to attempt an
alibi without suborning perjury. The attorneys
in Boston acted in good faith when they made
the claim, but they did not have the information
we possessed. . . . We checked and rechecked all
the evidence in the case long before the trial
and kept our mouths shut. We knew just about
what the commonwealth would do, but they did
not know what line we were going to take. We
kept them thinking that we were going to put in
an alibi right down to the point when they closed
their case. We did this for a point, that they
might not know how weak we were.

On March 31, he amplified this point some-
what impatiently in a letter to Helen Board-
man who had written him to ask just how the
alibi witnesses had been checked.

“Mr. Ransom and Mr. Tyson went to
Boston to interview the alibi witnesses [he
wrote in part in the letter reproduced here-
with]. None of them was able to place Craw-
ford in Boston before February 1, 1932,
when one actually pinned them down to
dates.” Helen Boardman, however, by that
time had gone to Boston herself and seen the
principal alibi witnesses who told her not only
that they absolutely stood by their stories, told
at the extradition hearing, but that nobody
connected with the defense had been to .see
them or questioned them about the matter
since that time. In April, 1934, I obtained
from four of these witnesses, Deacon An-

_thony Bailey, Augustus Rogers, Ernest Lewis

and Irving Washington, the affidavits to this
effect reproduced photostatically herewith.
The testimony of Irving Washington and
Deacon Bailey was particularly impressive.
Washington was a surprise witness at the
hearing, unknown even to the defense lawyers
and had testified that he and Crawford had
slept together in the basement of Basil Hutch-
in’s undertaking establishment for three
weeks in January, 1932, beginning not later
than January 9.

Helen Boardman and I then wrote an article
based on these findings questioning the hand-
ling of the case for The Nation which sub-
mitted it to Mr. Houston for a reply. This
article considerably expurgated and amended
to some extent with our consent, appeared in
The Nation for June 27, 1934, and Mr.
Houston’s reply in the issue of July 4. Fur-
ther correspondence on the matter appeared
also in the issues of July 18 and August 8,
1934. Mr. Houston, who stated that up to
the time of receiving our article he had not
taken our questions seriously, now also bestir-
red himself and submitted to us and to the
editors of The Nation a mass of documents,
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including the complete transcript of the trial.
We also had several interviews with him.
From none of these, however, did any tenable
explanation emerge for the failure of defense
counsel to interview the alibi witnesses, nor for
the statement that such interviews had taken
place and that the witnesses could not sustain
their original stories.

At our first interview Mr. Houston blamed
this failure on his associates, Messrs. Ransom
and Tyson, implying that they had misled him
in the matter and that he would “get after
them” about it. When we pointed out to him
that their report stated explicitly just whom
they had seen and failed to see and that his
correspondence revealed that he had himself
recalled them from Boston by telegram when
he must have been fully aware that they had
not seen most of the alibi witnesses, he aban-
doned this line of defense, admitting that this
failure was perhaps unfortunate but insisting
it did not really matter very much since he
knew that Crawford was actually guilty.

As to the violation of Crawford’s confidence
he was equally evasive—denying that he him-
self had violated it except to Walter White.
His alleged reason for doing this was the ne-
cessity of preventing White from publishing an
article in The Crisis strongly implying that Paul
Boeing was guilty. According to Mr. Hous-
ton’s story Walter White had written such an
article in good faith, and Mr. Houston had
been compelled therefore to disclose to him that
Crawford was guilty and had confessed. He
could not recall whether or not he had cau-
tioned White, a layman, that a defendant’s
statement to his lawyer is privileged and
highly confidential, but implied that if the
story had reached reporters and others the in-
discretion was White’s and not his. 'What the
evidence ~against Boeing was which caused
- White late in the summer or early fall of 1933
to write such an article for publication Mr.
Houston did not tell us.

Another interesting fact closely connected
with this appeared in the first statement that
Mr. Houston submitted to us and to The Na-
tion’s editors. In this he stated that he and
his associates had also believed Boeing might
be guilty at the outset of their investigation
and had obtained permission to interview pros-
ecution witnesses by stating to the Virginia
authorities that they believed this and would
accuse Boeing if their investigators confirmed
it. In his Nation article of July 4, however,

Mr. Houston for some reason wholly omitted

to state this. His explanation, in this article,
of his reasons for seeing prosecution witnesses
rather than those for the defense was that
“counsel had to investigate the evidence of the
prosecution in order to develop their theory
of the defense” I found and still find this dis-
crepancy puzzling. Mr. Houston’s first state-
ment was written about five months after the
trial ended, when he was in full possession of
the facts and was evidently his considered and
deliberate statement. If it was true five
months after the trial that counsel saw prose-
cution witnesses in an attempt to investigate
the possible guilt of Boeing, why was it no
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I, Augustus Rogers, a‘ redident of Boston, County of Suffolk,
ana Commorwealth of Massachusetts, on oath, depose and s&y:

1 met Gearge Crawford in Novewver 1931, at the Maryland
Garage on Columbus avenue, Boston, wassachusetts. He was work-
ing for Mr. Hutchins, the unaertaker. I came there to mov~
raciators and Mr. Hutchins gave me Crawford as & helper. I did
not know him ty tre name of Craeford tut I knew him by the name
of Smith. After I wasfinished he remained there war king for
¥r. Hutchins. In January, 1932, he came aown to the shop at
108§ Tremont street, Boston, and he stayed at 108§ Tremont street
from that time until he was arrestea. I saw him there every day.
I testified to these fact: &t the extraaition hearing ana

since that time I have not talkea with any lawyers or anytody

except Miss Lelen Boaraman who came to my house in February, 1934.

I will testify at any vlace to the truth of this statenent.

uAuulia Foaom

I testified at the extradition hearing at Oity Hall, Beston)
and sinoe thut time I have not talked with any lawyer, & any
other persen interested in Jeorge Orawferd until I gave this
statement to Miss Helen Boardmsn, Fedruary £5, 1924,

l\ovem‘oer 28, 1933

B0 not receive it until several da '“!"

w~iss Belen Boardmal

¥ to get into coumunication with LI. saibly.

came to see me in February of this year ana she is the only

person to whom I have told any of the facts in the sase.
Ema—————

%% 6666

I went to the extradition hearingaand afterwards wac .

notified to come to Mr. Julian KainRy's office, and was interviewed

by two lawyers from Washington, who had me get in touch with Mr.
hugustus Rogers and lr. Washington and have them meet the lawyers
at the above address at 8:30. Mr. Washington and Ar. Rogers were
presentat that time but the laﬂera have never showed up. I was
later interviewed by lisc kelen Boaraman on Sunday, the 25th of
Pebruary of this year.

One affidavit in full, and the concluding sentences of three other affidavits, of alibi
witnesses, stating that they had not been interviewed by the N.A.A.C.P. lawyers.
Compare with Charles H. Houston’s letter on page opposite.
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longer true or worth mentioning six months
after the trial? It is still more difficult to un-
derstand why, if as Houston claimed at first,
counsel were investigating Boeing’s connection
with the crime, so little appeared about him
in their interviews with the prosecution wit-
nesses while so much did about Crawford and
his presence in Virginia. I can only recall two
such interviews in which Paul Boeing played
any part. One exceedingly important inter-
view along these lines was between counsel
and Roy Seaton, a former Middleburg justice
of the peace who in his official character had
been one of the first persons to investigate the
scene of the crime. Seaton at the time of the
interview, November 24, 1934, still was sus-
picious of Paul Boeing, believed Crawford
might be innocent and was not only willing
but anxious to testify for the defense. Mr.
Houston and his associates, however, chose to
consider Seaton unreliable, despite the fact
that his testimony was substantially the same
that he had given to Helen Boardman nearly
a year before and they saw none of the other
- witnesses favorable to Crawford whose names
Helen Boardman had given them. They also
failed to see a number of Washington news-
paper men, whose names Seaton had given
them as those of witnesses who could corrobo-
rate a part of his story. Yet they were, be-
lieve it or not, counsel for the defense.

In his capacity as defense counsel, Mr.
Houston also looked up Crawford’s prison
record in Richmond and found to his horror
that it was even worse than he supposed and
that Crawford had lied to his Boston attor-
neys, minimizing his offense and posing as a
martyr. This at least is Mr. Houston’s version
of the matter. He failed, however, to verify
the story that Crawford had been pardoned
for saving Coleman’s life. On the particular
day he was in Richmond looking up Craw-
ford’s record—a Saturday afternoon—the par-
ticular office where this story could be checked
was closed and he made no further attempt
to do so. Mr. Houston, as defense counsel,
also talked with a prosecution witness named
Lester Hill—a Negro boy who up to this time
had “refused to divulge his information to the
prosecution.” Mr. Houston cited him both in

-his Nation article and in conversation with us
to refute our contention that many of the
prosecution witnesses probably gave their tes-
timony under duress. What he did not explain,
however, was why, when there was not time
enough to see defense witnesses, defense coun-
sel saw not only witnesses who had assisted
the prosecution but a prosecution witness who
previously “refused to divulge his evidence.”
Woas this in an attempt to find out something
about Paul Boeing or to “build up the theory
of defense?’ A further interest attaches to
the testimony of Hill in this case because after
talking with Mr. Houston, either he or some-
one else did divulge-his evidence to the prose-
cution and he suffered so complete a change of
heart that he later testified for the prosecution

- at Crawford’s trial.

On November 26, 1934, still in their capac-
ity as defense counsel Mr. Houston and Mr.

Tyson interviewed a certain Hammond
Nokes, a rather disreputable colored man who
had been passing as a woman and who lived
near Middleburg. It was at the house of
Nokes that Crawford was said by the prosecu-
tion to have spent a night shortly before the
murder and the piece of a paper in Crawford’s
handwriting, allegedly found in Mrs. Ilsley’s
car, was said to bear Nokes’ address. The re-
port of Messrs. Houston and Tyson of this
interview was as follows:

In our interview with this Hammond person
nothing very definitely established not even the
fact that Crawford stayed there that night . . .
but he led us to believe that he could not identify
Crawford’s picture “Because I wouldn’t identify
nobody I had only seen once in my life because
you can make so many mistakes.” . , ,

I think this house is a den for all the sissies,
cutthroats and other depraved and degraded folks
in the surrounding country. [At least five of the
prosecution’s witnesses frequented this house but
their credibility was not challenged by the de-
fense counsel. M. G.]. Bade us a very pleasant
goodby—sa:d you must come back sometime. Other
than that was a complete bust as far as the inter-
view was concerned.

This note I still find profoundly puzzling.
Here were defense counsel, who by their own
account started in believing in Crawford’s
Boston alibi, and not in the prosecution theory
of Crawford’s presence in Virginia. Yet when,

Houston Anxious to

Though reason totters, the truth is that the
defense counsel here is asking why the prose-
cution should have to establish a vital point
necessary to convict Crawford when it could
perfectly rely on the sportsmanship of the de-
fense to concede the point without any proof.
‘This sportsmanship is the more remarkable
when one remembers that the alleged “circum-_
stances under which the note was written” by
Crawford were known to defense counsel only
as the result of the privileged and confidential
relation between lawyer and defendant. If
Mr. Houston is serious in asking, however,
what difference it made when the note was
found the answer is a very obvious one. In
view of all the circumstances the reason it
was not found on the first search of the car
is very possibly that it had not, at that time,
been planted there, in accordance with the
determination shown by the authorities all
along the line, to incriminate Crawford. Mr.
Houston, however, preferred to waive the
point and “‘save the force of his cross-examina-
tion for the crucial matters which would really
affect the decision on appeal.” This has an
impressive sound—but after having done so he
neglected to take the appeal. Why? Well,
“In the first place Crawford did not want to
appeal” and “as Crawford’s counsel the writ-
ers of this article (Houston and Ransom) took
their orders from him.”

This too has a fine and impressive sound
but we have, unfortunately, only the words
of Messrs. Ransom and Houston that Craw-
ford did not want to appeal, and Mr. Hous-
ton, after all, also said that the alibi wit-
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for practically the first time, they came upon
a prosecution witness who did not uphold this
theory or did so in a dubious fashion, instead
of throwing up their hats as one might ex-
pect, they call the interview “a perfect bust.”
Just what, one wonders, did they hope to obtain
for Crawford? What was the real object of
any of these interviews?

The Nokes’ interview had particular im-
portance because of the fact that the one dam-
aging bit of evidence against Crawford besides
the flimsy “confession” made to Galleher was
the slip of paper bearing Nokes’ address in
Crawford’s writing which the police claimed
to have found in the abandoned car. I quote
Mr. Houston’s Nation article in this connec-
tion.

It [the car] was taken to Washington and
when it was searched a note indisputably written
by George Crawford was found on the floor.
Further evidence tended to establish that Craw-
ford had written the note two days before the
murder. Criticism has been made that the police
did not find the note on the first search of the
car, but what difference did that make if it was
actually Crawford’s note, written under the cir-
cumstances which counsel knew it had been writ-
ten under? Counsel saved the force of their cross
examination for the crucial things which would
really affect the decision either in the trial court
or on appeal, the unconstitutional exclusion of
Negroes . . . the confession which was the miss-
ing link connecting Crawford with the case.

“Wind Up the Case”

.

nesses had been seen when they hadn’t and
that they didn’t stand by their stories when
they did. Nor was the language used by Mr.
Houston to Crawford at the time of the Buck-
ner indictment that of a lawyer taking orders
from his client~——quite the contrary. 'We have
no statement from Crawford on the point and
see no chance of getting one, but even if Craw-
ford did actually say at any time that he did
not want to appeal, was this his constant or
final judgment and did he really understand
the implications and consequences of such a
course and make his choice without fear or
inducement? In view of the interview with
The Journal and Guide, which even Mr.
Houston believes Crawford actually gave, and
of his repeated re-assertions of his innocence
and repudiation of past confessions it seems
highly improbable. As soon as the sentence
was passed, Mr. Houston had announced in
the open court that he would probably not
appeal, and immediately after the trial he
wrote to Galleher that the N.A.A.C.P. was
anxious to wind up the case. It was some
weeks after this that Crawford from Henrico
jail wrote to a friend in Boston in a letter
(reproduced herewith) that “I am an inser
[innocent] man . .. and Mr. Houston, one
of my lawyers, say he is going to get me out
in two years.”

Crawford is probably not wholly reliable
either. It is true that after receiving his sec-
ond sentence he apparently gave to The Lou-
doun Times-Mirror an interview in which he
admitted his presence in Virginia and at the
scene of the crime, though he still denied



JANUARY 8, 1935

that he had taken any part in the murder.

In this interview Crawford said that the
murders were committed with a piece of lead
pipe. The prosecution had first sought to
show at the trial that it was done with the
blood-stained bootjack though the “confession”
obtained by Galleher made it a piece of rock.
The prosecution had in fact only one theory—
that was its story and it stuck to it in the face
of all discrepancies and absolute contradic-
tions—that Crawford and “Charlie Johnson”
were the guilty parties, Mr. Houston, who had
“cracked down” on Crawford for the earlier
interview in The Journal and Guide seems to
have authorized this later one. Perhaps Craw-
ford believed that giving it was part of the
condition on which his life was spared. Cer-
tainly he was a badly shaken and frightened
man on this occasion and the reporter to
whom he gave the interview stated that he
did so only after being assured that the sever-
ity of his punishment would not be increased.
As Richard Hale said in reviewing the case in
Boston last spring, “Crawford failed to appeal
because he flinched under duress.” It seems
to me fair to add to this that this duress was
applied among others by his counsel, Charles
Houston. Certainly in Boston when Craw-
ford was being properly defended and pro-
tected by Messrs. Wilson and Allen he was
staunch in denying his guilt and resisted all
the attempts of Galleher to browbeat him.
The suggestion that the subsequent confessions
that he has since made and repudiated again
in Virginia were not made under duress or

inducement of some kind is contrary to prob-

ability and common sense.
But there was still another reason, it seems,

why counsel did not appeal. The Crawford
defense was no mere legal case. They called
it an “experiment in social statesmanship.”
There is perhaps no good reason why in these
days when real-estate men are “realtors” and
undertakers “morticians” defense lawyers
should not be “experimenters in social states-
manship.” But the realtor does still sell real
estate, the mortician does enbalm and bury
the dead. The difference between an ordinary
defense lawyer and a ‘“‘social statesman” is
apparently that the former defends his client
while the latter may desert and prosecute him
with impunity.

The "record shows that with such defense
Crawford was convicted after a grossly unfair
trial, although all the amenities were preserved
and many compliments exchanged between
the defense and the prosecution. He was con-
victed although the state could produce no eye
witness to the crime, none who could even
place Crawford in the immediate vicinity of
the crime within several hours of it, no motive
on his part (the contention that it was robbery
holds no water), no fingerprints to connect
Crawford with the crime, no blood-stained
clothing, loot or murderous weapon found in
his possession.

The temper of the community being what
it was it seems highly probable that Crawford
would have been convicted even if a far abler
and more vigorous defense had been put up
in his behalf. But if he had had a defense
lawyer instead of a “social statesman” as his
counsel the case could have been appealed and
the standard of white justice prevailing in
Leesburg, Va., would not have been hailed
by the N.A.A.C.P.’s secretary as “one of the
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most distinguished victories for justice to the
Negro on record.” “Social statesmanship,”

‘however, seems to have become the policy of

the national officers of the N.A.A.C.P. Asa
result Crawford is in jail, the actual mur-
derer is still at large and Mr. Houston for
his gallant services to the cause has just re-
ceived an appointment as general counsel for
the Association and director of the program
of the joint committee, representing the Amer-
ican Fund for Public Service and the N.A.A.
C.P.

This appointment should meet with the
hearty approval of Mr. Houston’s friends,
especially the white southern judges and prose-
cuting attorneys among them. Colored peo-
ple and their friends, however, might do well
to challenge an appointment by which the na-
tional officers of the N.A.A.C.P., and the
trustees of the Garland Fund have put the
stamp of their approval on this policy of
cowardly compromise and betrayal of Negro
interests, apparently with a full knowledge of
all the facts. 7

The responsibility for this policy lies not
only at Houston’s door; it lies at the door of
the old guard among the N.A.A.C.P.s na-
tional officers and their rubber stamps, in par-
ticular Joel E. Spingarn, the chairman of the
board, Arthur Spingarn, head of the National
Legal Committee, and Mary White Ovington.
All three were connected with the N.A.A.C.P.
in the early days when it was a militant and
useful organization. They deserve credit for
the work it accomplished in those days, but
they must also bear the responsibility for
the organization’s present degradation and
weakness.

Moscow Street

- Moscow street is by day a river running over with workers:
The lithe men and squat women of all ages
Walk full on their feet with: the poise of a river:
You perhaps remember hastening on shrill wires down

Chicago street,

CHARLES B. STRAUSS

lathes,

You and the thin workers streaking before the wind like sand

Because surely there were not hours enough that day,
Because it was sure that nothing was sure and you were afraid

But very, very busy:

Remember or not, you and your millions bear this feeling

The workers' here spill onward at their own sweet rate and

Their rhythm is confident and the tune of their feet
temperate:

Daily out in the street the river of them moves abreast to

To shops and furrows, each unit lifting a red flag like a sail:
Also the poised river flows two ways around an island of

street repairs
Where muscles already move well,

Sharp and irresolute down in your bones, and take it along

As you take your hands along wherever you go: and yet

You will lose it here:

But do not mistake me:

Steel screeches here as in Pittsburgh; the motorist in brocade

skullcap

Punches his horn savagely, sends a Red Army boy hopping

backward ;
Paint falls from scaffolding:
and yet

there is technique and action:

singing

Shovels slamming the soil to finish the job by nightfall:

Here on the bank in the upthrown dirt two workers sit

They reach out with both hands to grab a red-kerchiefed girl
whose pick

Shines and breaks earth: she swings around, crying out

Her amazement and willingness and repose:

‘Music of shovels and laughter moves down your river
And you perhaps do not remember this from anywhere at all,

Not anywhere else at all.
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The Auto Workers Face 1935

The Detroit N.R.A. Hearings

Detrorr.

PPROPRIATELY enough, it all took
place on a stage. The chief actors

emerged from the wings; they were:
Leon Henderson, director of research and
planning of the N.R.A., Richard H. Lans-
burgh, associate director, and a stenographer.
A little later in the performance there came
on the scene Dr. Isadore Lubin, Commissioner
of the Bureau of Labor Statistics, U. S. De-
partment of Labor.

The occasion was the N.R.A. hearings on
“regularizing employment and otherwise im-
proving the conditions of labor in the auto-
mobile industry,” held in Detroit Dec. 15 and
16. The show had been gotten up at the
suggestion of President Roosevelt who, in an
expansive mood, pondering the problems of
the world at Warm Springs, Ga., suggested
on Nov. 21 to S. Clay Williams, chairman of
the National Industrial Recovery Board, that
*a study should be made by a group of im-
partial public officials” and that “an oppor-
tunity should be given to representatives of
the various economic interests involved, in-
cluding labor, management and consumers, to
present orally, or in writing, their opinions
and any supporting factual data.”

When the N.R.A. got around to staging the
show, they added something that Mr. Roose-
velt had thoughtlessly forgotten to mention in
his letter:

“No presentations will be received relating
to Section 74 of the N.I.R.4A. and similar
matters for which special boards and agencies
are serving.”

Before he had written the letter to S. Clay
Williams, even before he had extended (Nov.
1) the Automobile Code for another three
months, Mr. Roosevelt, according to the
press, had had the benefit of private confer-
ences with Alfred P. Sloan, Jr., president of
General Motors, and Walter P. Chrysler,
generalissimo of Chrysler Corp.—but even
Homer occasionally nods. The wide-awake
N.R.A. corrected Mr. Roosevelt’s error. Sec-
tion 7A—collective bargaining—the right to
organize—that holy of holies of the early days
of the New Deal crusade—was barred from
the hearings,

But it crashed the gate nevertheless.

~ Section 7A proved to be the ghost at the
banquet table. The master of ceremonies, Mr.
Henderson, a dark, stoutish, irritable gentle-
man, who wears his thimbleful of authority
{ike a cocked hat, threw Section 7A out on its
ear several times, only to find it parked in his
ap again, filling the whole of the plush-and-
gilt auditorium in Masonic Temple where
the hearings were held,

‘The only organization that protested the ex-

A. B. MAGIL

clusion of material relating to Section 7A was
the Communist Party, which presented a
statement through its representative, Earl
Reno. The Communist Party and the Auto
Workers’ Union (affiliated with' the Trade
Union Upity League) were the only organi-
zations that called for united action of all the
legitimate unions in the industry to combat
the employers’ offensive.

The story of the automobile industry, not
as it has been ballyhooed through the world
by the traveling salesmen of American capi-
talism, but as it has been written in the mis-
ery, the broken lives, the disappointed hopes
of tens of thousands of working men and wo-
men, was told at the N.R.A. auto hearings.
That story constitutes one of the most elo-
quent indictments of a system that has built
up pyramids of super-wealth and power on
the labor of industrial slaves; and it strips the
mask from a New Deal that has strength-
ened the company unions, increased speedup,
cut wages, thrown families out of homes in
an industry that was trumpeted to the four
corners of the earth as the symbol of “the
American standard of living.”

Out of the wide variety of testimony of-
fered by members of different and in some
cases, competing unions, a number of facts
emerge clearly:

1. A tremendous drop in the annual earn-
ings of all automobile workers, skilled and un-
skilled, since 1929 resulting from both wage
cuts and widespread unemployment, the de-
cline in some cases being as much as 75 per-
cent. ' _

2. Great intensification of the speedup dur-
ing this period, the production rate on some
operations increased as much as 300 percent.
As a result of this, elimination of workers,
especially those over forty, and increase in ac-
cidents.

3. Reduction of tens of thousands of work-
ers and their families to dependence on meager
relief which provides a below-subsistence-level
standard of living.

4. Loss of homes and other property by
workers who had paid thousands of dollars
on them in the boom days.

5. Increased use of industrial spies, black-
lists and other terror methods to prevent or-
ganization.

6. Flagrant violation of the maximum
hours’ provisions in the codes by practically
all companies.

7. Swindling of the underpaid workers
through crooked bonus systems and insurance
rackets controlled entirely by the companies.

8. Complete failure of the President’s set-
tlement of March 25 to improve conditions;
on the contrary, the testimony showed that

a number of companies began to cut wages
immediately after the signing of this agree-
ment which was supposed to chart “a new:*
course in social engineering.”

9. New wage cuts are now being intro-
duced with the rehiring of men after the sea-
sonal layoffs.

One might add what was, of course, barred
from the hearings: the increased pressure ex-
erted by the companies, aided and abetted by
the Roosevelt-appointed Automobile Labor
Board, to drive the workers into the company
unions.

The testimony itself:

The men spoke, rank and file workers and
officials of local unions, who risked jobs and
the possibility of future jobs in order to tes-
tify. ‘They talked quietly, seriously, present-
ing facts from personal experience. Very few
could be classed as radicals, yet practically
every word corroborated to the full the anal-
ysis and predictions made by militant labor or-
ganizations ; every word showed that all their
grievances were inseparably bound up with the
crucial question which the government and the
employers were at such pains to keep out:
the question of the right to organize. And
every word cried aloud that unless the work-
ers, regardless of union affiliation, stand united
in militant struggle, they will inevitably be
ground down to even more slavish conditions
by the millionaire auto magnates and their
political servants.

In striking contrast to the testimony of the
members of the United Automobile Workers,
affiliated to the American Federation of La-
bor, were the speeches of Charlton Ogburn,
counsel for the A. F. of L., and Francis J.
Dillon, A. F. of L. national organizer in the
auto industry.

Mr. Ogburn is an aristocratic-looking gen-
tleman whose speaking is a cross between a
Harvard accent and an East Side brogue. His
manner at the hearing was deferential to the
point of almost complete ineffectuality.. He
sprinkled aromatic praise over President
Roosevelt, the N.R.A. division of research
and planning and the Bureau of Labor Statis-
tics, and declared that “the scope of the in-
quiry meets with our approval.”? He reiter-
ated the well-known gospel:

The American Federation of Labor believes in
the American system. It believes that labor and
industry are partners in the production of manu-
factured goods, in the production of articles for
commerce and agriculture. It does not believe in

1 All quotations are from the official and steno-
graphic hearings just issued in two volumes by the
National Industrial Recovery Administration, I
have corrected occasional obvious errors in transcrip-
tion.—A. B. M. : :
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the nationalization of industry. and the solution
that we hope to bring before this board, if we
are permitted to do so, will be a solution based
upon that premise, the premise of the partnership
of labor and capital.

Perhaps it is lucky for Mr. Ogburn that
he made his little speech before the A. F. of
L. workers testified; otherwise some unruly
members of the audience might not have been
able to restrain their titters. The testimony

of these workers certainly confirmed the A. F.
of L. premise: the partnership between labor
and capital in the auto industry is, as Mat-
thew Smith, general secretary of the Mechan-
ics Educational Society of America, described
it, “the relationship of a slave owner to a
slave,” or, in the words of Phil Raymond,
national secretary of the Auto Workers’
Union, “the partnership of a holdup man and
his victim.”

The Autq Workers Testify

Francis J. Dillon, who followed Ogburn,
is a beefy gent of the well-known type. Be-
fore he succeeded William Collins as national
organizer in the auto industry, he was sta-
tioned in the General Motors principality of
Flint, Mich., where he was not distinguished
for his devotion to the interests of the work-
ers. On taking over his new duties, he
showed his energy by issuing a statement an-
nouncing a campaign not against the em-
ployers, but against Communists.

Dillon read a prepared statement, which
echoed Ogburn’s “partnership” plea. In pre-
senting his concrete proposals, he began to
mention the Auto Code’s “merit clause,” but
was summarily stopped by Chairman Hen-
derson, who ruled it out. The A. F. of L.
demands included (1) minimum hourly rates
of 60 cents for common labor and %0 cents
for production workers; (2) a 30-hour week
-—no mention of increased pay to compensate
for the shorter hours; (3) elimination of the
group bonus and piece-work systems; (4)
time studies (determination of production
speed) to be made “by. joint agreement be-
tween employer and employes,” and (5) “un-
employment insurance to be charged as part
of the operating cost of the industry and to
be under the joint management of employer
and employe.” It is clear that the A.F. of
L. leaders intend a form of unemployment
insurance whose cost, instead of being borne
by the employers and the government, will be
passed on to the consumer.

Outstanding during the first day of the
hearings was the testimony of William Mec-
Kie, unemployed Ford worker. This tall,
lanky, gray-haired Scotchman, a tinsmith by
trade, held the platform for nearly an hour.
He really gave a history of the Ford worker
since 1926. .

I quote from his testimony on the ques-
tion of speedup:

In 1926, in the motor building . .. five men
turned out 300 jigs for crankshafts. Two of these
men were laid off in 1927, late in 1927; and
the three men left were speeded up until March,
1928, the three men turned out 500 jigs.

The speedup in the soldering department and
gas tanks: in 1926 one man turned out thirty-five
pieces; in 1927 one man turned out eighty pieces.

In the piston department, in 1927, thirty men
were turning out as much as what sixty to sixty-
five men used to do.

McKie was here describing the increase
in speedup that came with the introduction of

Model A. Concerning the speedup at the
present time he stated :

The speed on the final assembly line was so
terrific that the men could not cope with the
production in eight hours. These men went in
sometimes a half an hour or three-quarters of
an hour before the starting time and had all of
the material laid out that they wanted to work
with and everything ready to go, and it took
them about the same time at night time to get
the stuff away. . . . These men actually put in
one hour each day for the Ford Motor Company
for nothing. . ..

It is estimated, and I have checked this up
myself, between 1933 to 1934 the speed of the
conveyors has been increased from the rate of
two miles per hours to three miles per hour. In
some instances the conveyor runs from four to
five miles an hour. I can take you to the motor
building where this conveyor is running as quick
as an average man can walk, . . .

From McKie, on the subject of wages:

In 1929 the wage rates ran $6 to $10 a day.
The yearly income was—I am giving as an
approximate average $1,470. Many skilled work-
ers’ yearly income ran $2,340. Everybody knows
that this particular period of 1929 was what we
look back upon as a period of prosperity. Houses
were built, the instalment man was busy on the
job, we were all buying radios, we were all buy-
ing cars, because Mr. Hoover said that the period
was near that every man would have two cars
in his garage and a chicken in every pot. Some-
thing like that. (Laughter.)

In 1930 wages were cut to $5 to $6 a day.
Many took a 15 percent cut. The irregular em-
ployment begins, and a further speedup.

In 1932 it was the period of depression. The
Ford plant was practically shut down from about
the middle of 1932. I do not think that there
were more—for instance, in my particular depart-
ment where we had 300 tinsmiths, I do not think
that there were more than thirty men left out of
our department. . . . Thousands and thousands
of workers were absolutely poverty-stricken. The
general thought was given that these Ford work-
ers would be able to tide over this particular
difficulty because they had been having a pretty
good period during 1929, but most of these men
had attempted to invest their earnings in the
buying of lots and homes and all kinds of ap-
pliances to help their wives at home, such as
washing machines and things of this description,
and when this period arrived, of course we know
now that these Ford workers had no money to
tide them over.

As to 1934—early in 1934 the Ford Motor
Company announced a 10-percent wage increase.
The workers did not get this wage increase, many
of them, for months afterwards. There were
stoppages—I can vouch for one particular in-
stance myself. . . .

In March again of the same year, the Ford
Moter Company announced another increase.
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Some of them, when they started in 1934, had
been getting $4 a day, the majority of production
workers, some $4.20 and some $4.50. But in
March, 1934, Ford announced an increase to $5
a day. -A few workers got this increase three
weeks after the newspaper announcement. The
majority did not get the increase until about the
middle of July. All of the wage increases were
accompanied by a commensurate stepping up of
production demanded of every workman. . . .

The average yearly income of production work-
ers at the Ford plant is less than the average
of the automobile industry as a whole. . . .

Concerning the notorious Ford spy system:

The period of employment is on the average
six months a year. The average yearly income
of the great mass of the workers in the Ford
plant is $650 a year, or $54.17 a month.

Threats and intimidation is one of the worst
possible things, even at that particular time, and
has been developed to a much greater extent
at the present time. The service man [company
spy], for instance—the question of the workers
speaking to each other. You would think in the
ordinary course of human dealings that at least
a worker would be entitled to talk to any other
worker during his lunch hour, during his own
time, or speak to a worker going across the
bridge going home, in the busses, or in the
street cars, or at such times and places, but that
is not so. You will very rarely find a Ford
worker, unless you have his confidence, speaking
to you exactly about what is going on in the
Fotd plant.

McKie told of other abuses: the health
hazards, the “alarming increase in the num-
ber and the severity of accidents” as a result
of speedup, the Ford $1 a day forced labor
scheme which was especially developed among
the unemployed workers in Inkster and Gar-
den City, near Detroit. It was a picture of
industrial peonage that makes the serfdom of
feudal times seem mild in comparison.

Conditions in other plants are no better,
the hearings revealed.

From the testimony of J. G. Kennedy,
Chrysler worker:

I worked on that automobile line from Novem-
ber, 1930 to September, 1931, . . . I lost two
hours in that time through my own fault—and
my earnings for that period, and the insurance
was deducted from my earnings, were less than
$10 per week.

You may wonder how I provided for my
wife and family during that time. I mortgaged
my insurance, and finally lost it, and lost every-
thing else that I had along with it, due to
the fact that I was not able to earn sufficient
for to keep up my payments for rents and pro-
vide for my family. . . .

We started in producing about fifteen cars per
hour, and when we got up to the peak of pro-
duction, with the same crew we were producing
twenty-five cars an hour, and when we increased
the number of employes by about one to ten, it
was speeded up to thirty-seven cars per hour. ...

You went in there, starting to work 7 or 8
o’clock in the morning; then you had to work
through until 11:30 regardless of your physical
condition, in the majority of the cases without
any relief for hygienic purposes. You went back
after a half or three-quarters of an hour’s rest
and you worked through until quitting time,
whether that was 2:30, 3:30, 5:30 or 8:30 and
you got no relief again.

«++ You were told by the foreman that you
either had to keep up your end of the work
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or if you did not, there were hundreds of men
out at the gate willing to take your place. That
threat was held over your head several times a
day, and to show you that the work was almost
unbearable for the average man . . . there was
not an average of two men out of fifty on that
line that were forty years of age. There was
not an average of ten men out of fifty on the line
that were thirty-five years of age, and the major-
ity of them were between twenty and thirty
years of age.

Now, then, you probably wonder if that con-
dition exists on that assembly line, why our
people are not more interested in being down
here this afternoon to testify and why they do
not put up a more bitter fight against the com-
pany. 1 want to say to you, gentlemen, that
that is fear. Those men have been discriminated
against and fired as I have myself. 1 was
eliminated and prohibited from producing or
earning a living for my wife and family because
I exercised my right as a citizen and advocated
that we start an organization in the Chrysler
plant to better conditions for myself and my
fellow men, but I was fired for that effort, as
were many more of my fellow-workers in the
plant, and when we brought it before—with all
due respect— to the President, establishing for
us an automobile board, that in my opinion—

Chairman Henderson here interrupted to
rule that “that is not pertinent to this in-
quiry.”

A number of workers testified concerning
the cheating bonus system. This system has
become such a sore spot in the industry that
most of the companies, in an effort to placate
the men, are now doing away with it and
establishing flat day-rates. But it seems to
be another case of Greeks bearing gifts.

“When they took in and established the
flat rate,” testified Harold Paget, Dodge
worker, “what they did was to figure out their
costs, a certain number of men—and they ar-
rived at an average flat rate. In all the in-
stances that I have been able to check up, the
men have suffered to the extent of a 10 per-
cent cut”’

One of the best and most colorful witnesses
was Charles Madden, employe of the Pontiac
Motor Company (General Motors subsidi-
ary). A worker in the industry for 28 years,
with eleven dependents, his earnings for two

. years had been $360.

CHAIRMAN HEenbErsON: Let me understand
that; $360 for a year for each of the. two past
years?

MR, MApDEN: Three hundred and sixty dollars
for the entire two years. The reason of course
for that I cannot give because it is debarred
from the hearing. (Laughter.) ... I would like
to point out, that young men are not particularly
interested in entering employment under the pres-
ent conditions of the industry because there is
maintained a penal system in the shops, a sys-
tem in which men of spirit, men who would
be expected to have spirit, and those are more
particularly the young, practically have to hang
their citizenship and their manhood and their
self-respect on the gate when they go into these
places of employment. (Applause.)

They are treated with about the amount of
courtesy and consideration that they could find
or perhaps less than they could find in the penal
institutions. I am pointing this out as one of the
effects on the workers, the young men. I know
that these layoffs have forced them into boot-
legging, manufacturing of illicit alcohol, burg-

lary, robbery and other means, legal or other-
wise, by which they could raise the necessary
money to meet the requirements of youth, amuse-
ment and the things like that of life to which
they are fully entitled.

On the older man the effect has been different,
The effect that I have found, I have found it to
be in my own case, a deterioration physically. A
deterioration which is accelerated each year, and
accelerated particularly by the worry attached
to the layoff itself, to the fact that one is laid
off, to the fact that one cannot supply their
families with the necessary things. All these
things tend to tear a man down, and of course
make him less able to perform. What he will
find when he returns to the shops is an increased
speedup in the job he formerly occupied or held.

This is what Dr. I. W. Ruskin, Detroit
physician, who was the last witness to testify,
called “speedup, depression, unemployment,
traumatic and insecurity neurosis.”

Elvie Kramer, worker at the Buick plant
(General Motors) in Flint, testified that
wages had been cut as much as 22 percent and
that the men in his department had to work
through the entire day without time off for
lunch. From $1,800 in 1929 this worker’s
earnings had dropped to $487 in 1932. Ed-
ward Mahlburg, worker at the Cadillac plant
(General Motors), said he averaged $500 a
year during the past three years. Testimony
was also given concerning wage cuts now be-
ing introduced in other plants.

The high point of the second day’s sessions
was indubitably the testimony of Maurice
Sugar, who is one of the truly distinguished
labor attorneys in the country. Now a can-
didate for judge of Recorder’s Court with
the endorsement of the Detroit Federation
of Labor, the Mechanics Educational Society
of America and left-wing organizations,
Sugar took the offensive from the start. Be-
fore he was through he had ripped to tatters
the sacred bans and taboos of the N.R.A. com-
mittee and had introduced evidence that every
effort on the part of the workers to organize
was met with the most ruthless persecution
by the companies.

He charged, moreover, that the companies
were using the very hearings conducted under
the auspices of the N.R.A. to photograph
witnesses, “The Ford Motor Company,” he
said, “has taken moving pictures of demon-
strations of workers in the city of Detroit,
developed the films, run them through and
looked for the faces of their employes, and
upon finding them, discharged them.” After
the gunfire attack on the Ford hunger
marchers in March, 1932, Sugar stated, Ford
workers “were discharged for taking up a
collection to pay funeral expenses of the men
that were killed.”

Sugar dealt with the government- and
company-inspired ballyhoo about “stabilizing
employment” and “a guaranteed annual
wage.”

“Regularizing employment, as conceived by
the employer and his political reflections,
means spreading the misery some more. Not
raising the standard of living of the worker,
oh no. Find a method of allaying the rising
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discontent by giving him a piece of bread
where he did not have a piece of bread before,
but just a piece of bread—and the proposal
for a guaranteed wage may readily become,
and I am inclined to believe will become, a
fraud and a delusion, a means of further
lowering the standard of living of the worker
unless that proposal is supplemented by a real
program of unemployment insurance. (Ap-
plause.) . ..

“There must be established a wage which
is not a subsistence wage. This is a recom-
mendation. But it must be a wage which
gives the American worker a living plus all
of the comforts of life. (Applause.) And
he is entitled to all of that, because all of the
comforts of life come through his efforts. . . .

“If a proper standard of living for the
American worker means no dividends to auto-
mobile stockholders, I say, no dividends to
automobile stockholders. If a decent standard
of living to the American worker means no
high-salaried executives, no salaries at all, I
say let it be so. One factor must be con-
sidered as constant at the outset, and that is
that every American worker is entitled to a
decent standard of living. That must never
be changed.” (Applause.)

Sugar was followed by a number of M.E.
S.A. members whose testimony, though they
are supposedly the “aristocrats” of the indus-
try, revealed conditions in no wise different
from those prevailing among the A.F. of L.
production workers. This testimony fully cor-
roborated the. statement of Matthew Smith,
general secretary of the organization, that for
the past five years these highly skilled work-
ers have averaged from $300 to $700 a year,
while their working hours, when employed
have been eleven and twelve hours a day,
seven days a week—codes or no codes. The
speech of Smith, who is a member of the
Socialist Party, echoed the militant sentiments
of the MLE.S.A. rank and file. It was he,
however, who last year peddled all sorts of
illusions about the N.R.A. and opposed mili-
tant policies, who himself served on the strike-
breaking regional labor board, who when the
auto workers were ready to go out in a gen-
eral strike last March, wired the National
Labor Board that such a strike would be “a

- national calamity and a severe handicap to

the President’s recovery program.”

What was the political significance of the
N.R.A. hearings?

In concluding his testimony, Maurice Sugar
declared that “this hearing, with the exclu-
sion of that matter (relating to Section 7A),
is puerile, childish, and it must be sterile and
non-productive; it results in suppression, and
it really is merely staging a show for some
purpose other than the remedying of evils
that concern labor generally.”

What was this “other purpose”? Why
was the show staged? What is the outlook
for the automobile industry in 19352 In an-
other article A. B. Magil will attempt to
answer these questions.—THE EDITORS.
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Limbach

Man on a Road

T ABOUT four in the afternoon I
crossed the bridge at Gauley, West
Virginia, and turned the sharp curve

leading into the tunnel under the railroad
bridge. I had been over this road once be-
fore and knew what to expect—by the time
I entered the tunnel I had my car down to
about ten miles an hour. But even at that
speed I came closer to running a man down
than I ever have before. This is how it
happened.

The patched, macadam road had been
soaked through by an all-day rain and now
it was as slick as ice. In addition, it was
quite dark—a black sky and a steady, swish-
ing rain made driving impossible without
headlights. As I entered the tunnel a big
cream colored truck swung fast around the
curve on the other side. The curve was so
sharp that his headlights had given me no
warning. The tunnel was short and narrow,
just about passing space for two cars, and
before I knew it he was in front of me with
his big, front wheels over on my side of the
road.

I jammed on my brakes. Even at ten
miles an hour my car skidded, first toward
the truck and then, as I wrenched on the
wheel, in toward the wall. There it stalled.
The truck swung around hard, scraped my
fender and passed through the tunnel about
an inch away from me. I could see the tense
face of the young driver with the tight bulge
of tobacco in his cheek and his eyes glued on
the road. I remember saying to myself that
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I hoped he’d swallow that tobacco and go
choke himself.

I started my car and shifted into first. It
was then I saw for the first time that a man
was standing in front of my car about a foot
away from the inside wheel. It was a shock
to see him there. “For Chrissakes,” I said.

My first thought was that he had walked
into the tunnel after my car had stalled. I
was certain he hadn’t been in there before.
Then I noticed that he was standing profile
to me with his hand held up in the hitch-
hiker’s gesture. If he had walked into that
tunnel, he’d be facing me—he wouldn’t be
standing sideways looking at the opposite wall.
Obviously I had just missed knocking him
down and obviously he didn’t know it. He
didn’t even know I was there.

It made me run weak inside. I had a
picture of a man lying crushed under a wheel
with me standing over him knowing it was
my car.

I called out to him “Hey!” He didn’t
answer me. I called louder. He didn’t even
turn his head. He stood there, fixed, his
hand up in the air, his thumb jutting out. It
scared me. It was like a story by Bierce
where the ghost of a man pops out of the
air to take up his lonely post on a dark coun-
try road.

My horn is a good, loud, raucous one and
I knew that the tunnel would re-double the
sound. I slapped my hand down on that
little black button and pressed as hard as I
could. That man was either going to jump

or else prove that he was a ghost.

Well, he wasn’t a ghost—but he didn’t
jump, either. And it wasn’t because he was
deaf. He heard that horn all right.

He was like a man in a deep sleep. The
horn seemed to awaken him only by degrees,
as though his whole consciousness had been
sunk in some deep recess within himself. He
turned his head slowly and looked at me. He
was a big man, about thirty-five with a heavy-
featured face—an ordinary face with a big,
fleshy nose and a large mouth. The face
didn’t say much. I wouldn’t have called it
kind or brutal or intelligent or stupid. It
was just the face of a big man, wet with
rain, looking at me with eyes that seemed to
have a glaze over them. Except for the eyes
you see faces like that going into the pit at
six in the morning or coming out of a steel
mill or foundry where heavy work is done.
I couldn’t understand that glazed quality in
his eyes. It wasn’t the glassy stare of a
drunken man or the wild, mad glare I saw
once in the eyes of a woman in a fit of vio-
lence. I could only think of a man I once
knew who had died of cancer. Over his
eyes in the last days there was the same dull
glaze, a far away, absent look as though be-
hind the blank, outward film there was a
secret flow of past events on which his mind
was focussed. It was this same look that I
saw in the man on the road.

‘When at last he heard my horn, the man
stepped very deliberately around the front of
my car and came toward the inside door. The

/
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least I expected was that he would show sur-
prise at an auto so dangerously close to him.
But there was no emotion to him whatsoever.
He walked slowly, deliberately, as though he
had been expecting me and then bent his head
down to see under the top of my car. “Kin
yuh give me a lift, friend?” he asked me.

I saw his big, horse teeth chipped at the
ends and stained brown by tobacco. His voice
was high-pitched and nasal with the slurred,
‘lilting drawl of the deep South. In West
Virginia few of the town folk seem to speak
that way. I judged he had been raised in
the mountains.

I looked at his clothes—an old cap, a new
blue work shirt and dark trousers, all soaked
through with rain. They didn’t tell me
much.

I must have been occupied with my
thoughts about him for some time, because he
asked me again. ‘“Ahm goin’ to Weston,” he
said. ‘“Are you a-goin’ thataway?”’

As he said this, I looked into his eyes. The
glaze had disappeared and now they were
just ordinary eyes, brown and moist.

I didn’t know what to reply. I didn't
really want to take him in—the episode had
unnerved me and I wanted to get away from
the tunnel and from him too. But I saw
him looking at me with a patient, almost
humble glance. The rain was streaked on his
face and he stood there asking for a ride and
waiting in simple concentration for my an-
swer. I was ashamed to tell him “no.” Be-
sides, I was curious. “Climb in,” I said.

He sat down beside me, placing a brown
paper package on his lap. We started out of
the tunnel.

From Gauley to Weston is about a hun-
dred miles of as difficult mountain driving
as I know—a five mile climb to the top of
a hill, then five miles down and then up an-
other. The road twists like a snake on the
run and for a good deal of it there is a
jagged cliff on one side and a drop of a
thousand feet or more on the other. The rain
and the small rocks crumbling from the moun-
tain sides and littering up the road made it
very slow going. But in the four hours or
so that it took for the trip I don't think my
companion spoke to me half a dozen times.

I tried often to get him to talk. It was
not that he wouldn’t talk, it was rather that
he didn’t seem to hear me—as though as soon
as he had spoken, he would slip down into
that deep, secret recess within himself. He
sat like a man dulled by morphine. My con-
versation, the rattle of the old car, the steady
pour of rain were all a distant buzz—the
meaningless, outside world that could not
quite pierce the shell in which he seemed to
be living.

As soon as we had started, I asked him
how long he had been in the tunnel.

“Ah don’ know,” he replied. “A good
tahm, ah reckon.”

“What were you standing there for—to
keep out of the rain?”

He didn’t answer.
speaking very loudly.

I asked him again,
He turned his head

to me. “Excuse me, friend,” he said, “did you
say somethin’?”

“Yes,” I answered. “Do you know I al-
most ran you over back in that tunnel?”

“No-0,” he said. He spoke the word in
that breathy way that is typical of mountain
speech.

“Didn’t you hear me yell to you?”

“No-0.” He paused. “Ah reckon ah was
thinkin’.”

“Ah reckon you were,” I thought to my-
self. “What's the matter, are you hard of
hearing?”’ I asked him.

“No-0,” he said, and turned his head away
looking out front at the road.

I kept right after him. I didn’t want him
to go off again. I wanted somehow to get
him to talk.

“Looking for work ?”’

“Yessuh.”

He seemed to speak with an effort. It was
not a difficulty of speech, it was something
behind, in his mind, in his will to speak. It
was as though he couldn’t keep the touch be-
tween his world and mine. Yet when he did
answer me, he spoke directly and coherently.
I didn’t know what to make of it. When he
first came into the car I had been a little
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frightened. Now I only felt terribly curious
and a little sorry.

“Do you have a trade?”’ I was glad to
come to that question. You know a good
deal about a man when you know what line
of work he follows and it always leads to
further conversation.

“Ah ginerally follows the mines,” he said.

“Now,” I thought, “we’re getting some-
where.”

But just then we hit a stretch of unpaved
road where the mud was thick and the ruts
were hard to follow. I had to stop talking
and watch what I was doing. And when we
came to paved road again, I had lost him.

I tried again to make him talk. It was
no use. He didn’t even hear me. Then,
finally, his silence shamed me. He was a

man lost somewhere within his own soul, only
asking to be left alone.” I felt wrong to keep
thrusting at his privacy.

So for about four hours we drove in silence.
For me those hours were almost unendurable.
I have never seen such rigidity in a human
being. He sat straight up in the car, his out-
ward eye fixed on the road in front, his in-
ward eye seeing nothing. He didn’t know I
was in the car, he didn’t know he was in the
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car at all, he didn’t feel the rain that kept
sloshing in on him through the rent in the
side curtains. He sat like a slab of moulded
rock and only from his breathing could I be
sure that he was alive. His breathing was
heavy.

Only once in that long trip did he change
his posture. That was when he was seized
with a fit of coughing. It was a fierce, hack-
ing cough that shook his big body from side
to side and doubled him over like a child with
the whooping cough. He was trying to cough
something up—I could hear the phlegm in
his chest — but he couldn’t succeed. Inside
him there was an ugly, scraping sound as
though cold metal were being rubbed on the
bone of his ribs, and he kept spitting and
shaking his head.

It took almost three minutes for the fit to
subside. Then he turned around to me and
said, “Excuse me, friend.” " That was all.
He was quiet again.

I felt awful. There were times when I
wanted to stop the car and tell him to get
out. I made up a dozen good excuses for
cutting the trip short. But I couldn’t do it.
I was corisumed by a curiosity to know what
was wrong with the man.. I hoped that be-
fore we parted, perhaps even as he got out of
the car, he would tell me what it was or say
something that would give me a clue.

I thought of the cough and wondered if it
were T.B. I thought of cases of sleeping
sickness I had seen and of a boxer who was
punch drunk. But none of these things
seemed to fit. Nothing physical seemed to
explain this dark, terrible silence, this intense,
all-exclusive absorption within himself.

Hour after hour of rain and darkness!

Once we passed the slate dump of a mine.
The rain had made the surface burst into
flame and the blue and red patches flickering
in a kind of witch glow on a hill of black
seemed to attract my companion. He turned
his head to look at it, but he didn’t speak,
and I said nothing. =

And again the silence and rain! Occa-
sionally a mine tipple with the cold, drear,
smoke smell of the dump and the oil lamps
in the broken down shacks where the miners
live. Then the black road again and the
shapeless bulk of the mountains.

We reached Weston at about eight o’clock.
I was tired and chilled and hungry. I
stopped in front of a cafe and turned to the
man.

“Ah reckon this is hit,” he said.

“Yes,” I answered. I was surprised. I
had not expected him to know that we had
arrived. Then I tried a final plunge. “Will
you have a cup of coffee with me?”

“Yes,” he replied, “thank you, friend.”

The “thank you” told me a lot. I knew
from the way he said it that he wanted the
coffee but couldn’t pay for it; that he had
taken my offer to be one of hospitality and
was grateful. I was happy I had asked him.

We went inside. For the first time since
I had come upon him in the tunnel he seemed

human. He didn’t talk, but he didn’t slip

" me.

inside himself either. He just sat down at
the counter and waited for his coffee. When
it came, he drank it slowly, holding the cup
in both hands as though to warm them.

When he had finished, I asked him if he
wouldn't like a sandwich. He turned around
to me and smiled. It was a very gentle, a
very patient smile. His big, lumpy face
seemed to light up with it and become under-
standing and sweet and gentle.

The smile shook me all through. It didn’t
warm me—it made me feel sick inside. It
was like watching a corpse begin to stir. I
wanted to cry out “My God, you poor man!”

Then he spoké tq me. His face retained
that smile and I could see the big, horse teeth
stained by tobacco.

“You've bin right nice to me, friend, an’
ah do appreciate it.” .

“That’s all right,” I mumbled.

He kept looking at me. I knew he was

going to say something else and I was afraid

of it,
“Would yuh do me a faveh?”
“Yes,” 1 said.

He spoke softly. “Ah’ve got a letter here
that ah done writ to mah woman, but ah
can’t write very good. Would you all be kind
enough to write it ovah for me so it'd be
proper like?”

“Yes,” I said, “I’d be glad to.”

“Ah kin tell you all know how to write
real well,” he said, and smiled.

“Yes.’)

He opened his blue shirt. Under his thick
woolen underwear there was a sheet of paper
fastened by a safety pin. He handed it to
It was moist and warm and the damp
odor of wet cloth and the slightly sour odor
of his flesh clung to it.

1 asked the counterman for a sheet of
paper. He brought me one. This is the letter
I copied. I put it down here in his own
script.

My dere wife—

i am awritin this yere leta to tell you somethin

i did not tell you afore i lef frum home. There

~is a cause to wy i am not able to get me any
job at the mines. i told you hit was frum work
abein slack. But this haint so.

Hit comes frum the time the mine was shut
down an i worked in the tunel nere Gauley
Bridge where the govinment is turnin the river
inside the mounten. The mine supers say they
wont hire any men war worked in thet tunel.

Hit all comes frum thet rock thet we all had
to dril. Thet rock was silica and hit was most
all of hit glass. The powder frum this glass
has got into the lungs of all the men war worked
in thet tunel thru their breathin. And this has
given to all of us a sickness. The doctors writ
it down for me. Hit is silicosis. Hit makes
the lungs to git all scab like and then it stops
the breathin.

Bein as our hom is a good peece frum town
you aint heerd about Tom Prescott and Hansy
MCCulloh having died two days back. But wen
i heerd this i went to see the doctor.

The doctor says i hev got me thet sickness
like Tom Prescott and thet is the reeson wy i
am coughin sometime. My lungs is agittin scab
like. There is in all ova a hondred 'men war
have this death sickness frum the tunel. It is
a turible plague becus the doctor says this wud
not be so if the company had gave us masks
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to ware an put a right fan sistem in the tunel.

So i am agoin away becus the-doctor says i
will be dead in about fore months.

i figger on gettin some work maybe in other
parts. i will send you all my money till i caint
work no mohr.

i did not want i should be a burdin upon
you-all at hum. So thet is wy i hev gone away.

i think wen you daon here frum me no mohr
you orter go to your grandmaws up in the
mountens at Kilney Run. You kin live there:
an she will take keer of you an the young one.

i hope you will be well an keep the young
one out of the mines. Doan let him work there.

Doan think hard on me for agoin away and
doan feel bad. But wen the young one is

agrowed up you tell him wat the company has
done to me. ’

i reckon after a bit you shud try to git you
anotha man. You are a young woman yit.
Your loving husband,
Jack Pitckett.

When I handed him the copy of his letter,
he read it over. It took him a long time.
Finally he folded it up and pinned it to his
undershirt. His big, lumpy face was sweet
and gentle. ‘“Thank you, friend,” he said.
Then, very softly, with his head hanging a
little—“Ahm feelin’ bad about this a-happen-
in’ t'me. Mah wife was a good woman.”
He paused. And then, as though talking to
himself, so low I could hardly hear it, “Ahm
feelin’ right bad.”

As he said this, I looked into his face.
Slowly the life was going out of his eyes.
It seemed to recede and go deep into the
sockets like the flame of a candle going into
the night. Over the eyeballs came that dull
glaze. I had lost him. He sat deep within
himself in his sorrowful, dark absorption.

That was all. We sat together. In me
there was only mute emotion—pity and love
for him, and a cold, deep hatred for what
had killed him.

Presently he arose. He did not speak.
Nor did I. I saw his thick, broad back in
the blue work shirt as he stood by the door.
Then he moved out into the darkness and
rain,

Bread Line

This line of the living dead
moving so slow
with aching

in the snow
through

the seasons grew
led

by the lack of bread :
before the wealth-reared structures
guarded by force

_ which fears
these eyes

starved . . . pierced
through faces . . . fierced!

They stared
mute with bodies bared . . .

Plead
for a minimum of bread . . .
and got lead!
DEE VAGRLEN.
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NEW MASSES

Correspondence

Oakley Johnson Comments

To Tre New Masses:

I ask space to comment on Granville Hicks’
statements concerning The Monthly Review in his
“Our Magazine and Their Functions” (Dec. 18).

1. “The purpose of this magazine,” says Hicks,
“was to reach sections of the middle-class that are
not ready for THe New Masses.” Those who have
read the preliminary announcements and the five
(not four) issues that have appeared will agree
that this statement of purpose is inadequate. Its
purposes were specifically to present to unpolitical-
ized middle class people detailed and concrete data
on the economic status of white collar and profes-
sional workers (see “The Dentist Faces the Depres-
sion,” “Lebanon Hospital Workers Organize,” “The
Shields Case”—for teachers—“A Case for the Musi-
cian,” etc.) ; to give detailed correct explanations of
certain political questions which disturb many mid-
dle class sympathizers (see, for example, my own
article on the Madison Square Garden affair of last
February); to help win the middle class for the
fight against Fascism (see articles by Herbert A.
Klein, Isidor Schneider, Simon L. Shuster, etc.);
and, incidentally, by editorial comment, to help pop-
ularize the revolutionary magazines that have a
direct middle-class appeal, especially THE New
Masses, New Theatre, and Soviet Russia Today—
and China Today, another “new” magazine. I be-
lieve that the detailed treatment called for by the
first three aims can best be given in a monthly
periodical, leaving current weekly comment and
generally shorter articles to THE NEw MASSES.

2. Hicks declares that “a few” articles “might”
have had the right appeal, but that “they could
hardly offset the effect of the rest of the contents,”
and continues: “Certain articles were of a highly
technical and perhaps even sectarian nature, and
could have only the most limited appeal. Others
were on an exceedingly low intellectual and literary
lewel, and served only to bring the revolutionary
movement into disrepute.” (My emphasis.) Since
Hicks declares that he “should like to be quite
specific,” even at the “risk of stepping on a number
of corns,” it is unfortunate that he saw fit to make
these sweeping assertions without a single specific
reference. I- would be the first to point out and
condemn our mistakes on The Monthly Review, but
I ask those interested to judge by the magazine it-
self whether the quoted statements are not on an
exceedingly low level of comradely criticism.

3. Hicks concludes with the statement, applicable
both to the Partisan Review and The Monthly Re-
view, that “such Bohemian individualism and ir-
responsibility are entirely incompatible with the seri-
ous tasks of revolutionaries.” I cannot discuss this
charge, but I must state, both on behalf of the
magazine and of my own participation as its as-
sociate editor, that no revolutionist should make so
irresponsible a stateemnt. Concerning this final state-
ment I shall expect a comradely retraction from the
editors of NEw MASSES, !

The Monthly Review hoped to keep going for
one year. It was financed entirely by its founder
and editor, Joseph Koven, but the heavy expense
and inadequate sales forced its untimely suspension.

OAKLEY JOHNSON.

Granville Hicks Replies

To Tue NEw Masses:

My article on “Our Magazines and Their Func-
tions” was intended, as I tried to make clear, to
initiate discussion on the whole problem of the eco-
nomical utilization of our resources. I was naturally
aware that Oakley Johnson must believe the Monthly
Review served a useful function, for otherwise he
would not have remained an editor of it. I am very
glad to have him present evidence in defense of his

position, and I have no comment to make on his
first paragraph.

His second paragraph, however, asks me to sub-
stantiate my statement that certain contributions to
the Monthly Review were on a low intellectual and
literary level. I was referring to the contributions
of Joseph Koven. I do not have copies of the
Monthly Review at hand as I write this, and there-
fore I cannot name particular articles. I can, how-
ever, say that the greater number of Koven’s con-
tributions were juvenile in conception, and inept and
even offensive in expression.

Finally, if Oakley Johnson will re-read the last
paragraph of my article, he will see that I did not
impute “Bohemian individualism and irrespon-
sibility” to the editors of either the Monthly Review
or the Partisan Review. It is a charge that I should
never think of making. I have the greatest respect
for almost everyone connected with either magazine:
In fact, it is because I recognize the ability of these
men that I think the whole question of the maga-
zines ought to be raised.

GRrANVILLE HICKkS,

Cinema Guild of Detroit

To THE NEw MASSES:

The decline of the Little Cinema Theatre move-
ment since 1929 has made it all but impossible in re-
cent years for significant contributions to the art of

- the cinema to be seen and heard in America.

Like the audience-groups in France and England
and the few in America, the Cinema Guild of De-
troit, newly organized, is setting out to create a
membership movie-group that will show the many
fine European and independent productions usually
not shown because they do not tally with the tradi-
tional “box-office” standards or because they do not
check with the political, social and cultural status
quo. We expect to aid the production of experi-
mental and independent movies,

We invite readers of THE NEw MassEes in Detroit
who are interested to communicate with us at 127
W. Adams St., Detroit.

CINEMA GuiLD OF DETROIT,
Henry Schuman.

New Theatre of Philadelphia

To THE NEw MASsSES:

The New Theatre of Philadelphia, a collective or-
ganization of playwrights, directors, actors, stage
technicians and musicians, has recently been
launched, with an enrollment already of some 165
members. It is a cooperative, non-profit making or-
ganization with the guiding principle, “the social
education of our people.”

The New Theatre will endeavor to bring to the
broad masses of the people, social plays, vigorously
and truthfully concerned with the historic struggles
surrounding contemporary life; and to form a per-
manent theatre, with a continuing repertory, its own
workshop and offering plays at low admission rates.

The New Theatre prefers whenever possible to
produce the work of as yet unknown American dra-
matists whose work is nevertheless honest, signifi-
cant and concerned with the struggles of our day.
Such dramatists who believe their manuscripts fall
into the repertory of such a theatre are asked to
send them to the New Theatre, 2313 Walnut Street,
Philadelphia. FriepA NURENBERG,

for New Theatre.

War Challenge of N.R.A.

To THeE NEw MASSEs:

Happy Days, the official publication of the C.C.C.
camps makes this editorial statement: “Every one
knows the value of military training, and who,
recipient of Army discipline, should appreciate it

more than the average C.C.C. member. An in-
ability to secure employment conduces to an unruli-
ness, a feeling of unrest, which, prevalent among
the majority, gradually pervades the entire company.
No training can possibly be of more advantage to
the reforestation men than military training.”

But the editors of Happy Days are much too
clever to propose anything more than making the
camps permanent. For the present they are leaving
the dirty work to The New York Daily News which
demands that C.C.C. men be given guns and to the
Assistant Secretary of War. As far back as last
January Woodring revealed the manner in which
the camps are linked up with the war preperations
of the N.R.A. machine. He wrote in Liberty
magazine:

In two months last spring the Army recruited,
mobilized, conditioned and equipped more men
than we recruited in the Spanish-American War
and we did it so quietly and efficiently that few
people in the country realized what was happen
ing. This achievement, the organization of over
300,000 men in more than 1,500 C.C.C. camps,
was the first real test of the Army’s plans for
war mobilization.

The Youth Section of the American League
Against War and Fascism has taken up the chal-
lenge of the N.R.A. war machine, and is now con-
ducting a campaign against the C.C.C. camps. Peti-
tions are being circulated demanding that the 8,000
Army officers who control the camps be withdrawn,
that the federal government refrain from making
the camps permanent institutions and that regular
jobs or unemployment insurance be substituted in
their place. Only immediate action on a national
scale can save the camps from being turned into
garrisons. It is expected that over 100,000 signatures
will be collected to back up these demands.

LoN LAwsoN.

A Correction

To THE NEw MASSES:

In our ad of last week an error occurred. The
regular price of the twenty-five-booklet, 1,725-page
Little Lenin Library that we offer for $3.25 during
the month of January was incorrectly listed as $4.00
instead of $4.90. The purchaser saves $1.65 on this
library and not 75 cents as the ad implies. All
those who wish to take advantage of this offer should
order immediately and include 25 cents extra for
postage if they live outside of New York City
and 15 cents if in the city.

50 East 13th Street. ‘WorkERS’ Book SHOP.

UPTOWN BRANCH of THE PRESS LEAGUE
presents

X GALA STAGE SHOW

Including Russian Music

XX SENDER GARLIN
“Do You Believe What You
Read?”

X KUHLE WAMPE
with Herte Thiele—Star of

“Maedchen in Uniform”
English Titles

Sunday, January 6, at 8 P. M.
WINTER GARDEN

Washington and Tremont Aves.
The Bronx

Admission—45 cents
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REVIEW AND COMMENT

Material for a Note on Shakespeare

HEN a new Shakespeare pro-
duction comes to Broadway it
usually gives bourgeois critics an

excuse for unburdening themselves of a cer-
tain amount of erudition about the poet’s
struggles, personality, love-life, etc. But, as
everyone knows, most of such commentary
never goes beyond the hypothetical, being
essentially repetitious of the available Shake-
speare facts, which continue to be few. The
most fruitful recent research has illuminated
Shakespeare’s contemporaries rather than him-
self (for example, Leslie Hotson’s detective
work on the killing of Christopher Marlowe).
Nevertheless, faced with the perennial prob-
lem of “introducing” the new Shakespeare
production, the bourgeois critic chooses the
simplest means and revamps essentially the
same material that had filled his columns
when Shakespeare last came to town, (for
example, Brooks Atkinson’s recent ‘‘Preface to
‘Romeo’,” introducing Katharine Cornell’s

Y

fresh and brilliant Romeo and Juliet.)

For the Marxist critic, however, a new per-
formance of Shakespeare raises a series of
questions which American criticism has so far
failed to analyze, and which the ideological
enemies of Marxism take keen pleasure in
complicating. With venom and rapt intel-
lectual confusion, they insist that all sorts of
nonsensical “conclusions” must logically fol-
low from certain false premises which they
generously attribute to revolutionary criticism.
For example, Shakespeare must be entirely
damned or 95 percent discredited (1) because
he was a bourgeois, (2) because he idolized the
nobility and mocked the servile classes, and
(3) because he made frequent statements pre-
dicating belief in supernaturalism. A full an-
swer to these three chief “questions” alone
would require a lengthy essay. For our pur-
poses it is sufficient to adduce some of the facts
involved in a revolutionary understanding of
Shakespeare, thereby to wash away the falsifi-
cations which opponents of Marxist criticism
have contributed to the question.

At the risk of restating the obvious, let it
be recorded at once that any work of art
which provides a faithful picture of a given
period in history is of inestimable value and
importance, for reasons of cultural documen-
tation if for nothing else. To Marxist criti-
cism, which is scrupulous to understand every
last atom of history, denying nothing as unim-
portant if it helps to explain a period in the
career of mankind, the plays of Shakespeare
assume consummate importance for their un-
paralleled reflection of their period. But just
how faithful and typical are these plays?

How representative an Elizabethan was

Shakespeare?

Born in the last third of the sixteenth cen-
tury and fed by the dwindling but persistent
stream of medieval culture, Shakespeare lived
and worked through some of the most signifi-
cant years in England’s development. British
explorers were laying the basis for far-flung
imperialism, loading the treasuries of individ-
ual merchants and the crown with wealth
filched from new colonies. In trafficking her
goods from country to country, England’s
fleet was speedily establishing British com-
merce as the richest and her warships as the
strongest. The island teemed with military
power and economic success. Meanwhile
Henry Eighth’s clash with the Pope opened
the way for intellectual growth; it was the
initial emancipation from the deadening men-
tal influence of Catholicism. And despite the
unsettled years (1547-58) following Henry’s
death, Queen Elizabeth had managed to
separate the State from the church sufficiently
to permit “worship according to conscience”
rather than edict. 'When the Renaissance
reached England, therefore, poets, playwrights,
and scholars had already been allowed the lat-
itude necessary; the spirit of free inquiry
was not to be menaced by a governmental hand
of God.

All of this economic and -intellectual prog-
ress remains meaningless unless related to the
historical movement of which it is a part—
unless explained as an effect of the expropria-
tion of feudalism by the bourgeoisie. In this
liberating attack on surviving medievalism, the
rising middle classes played a revolutionary
role. Their rise to economic power had al-
ready a sound beginning as early as 1485-
1495 ; and during the hundred and fifty years
that followed their strength so increased that
a final outbreak was possible—the 1642 rebel-
lion under Cromwell which was the attempt
of the bourgeoisie to achieve the effect of their
economic power by seizing political power.
Obliged to practise thrift, Henry VII (1485-
1509) encouraged the use of country gentle-
men in the Privy Council—unpaid members
of the middle classes functioning as justices of
the peace. This allocation of political power
to the non-nobility was inseparable from the
rise of the cloth industry which had nation-
wide effects on England’s economy. The im-
portation of Flemish weavers who could man-
ufacture finished products stimulated the
sheep-growing industry to such a degree that
the capitalist type of agriculture gradually
supplanted the subsistence type. By grabbing
off and “enclosing” for pasture purposes land
hitherto used for cultivation, the large bour-

geois cloth promoters froze out the small
farmer and created a wandering beggar class.
A further economic change which increased
the power of the bourgeoisie came as a result
of Henry Eighth’s break with Rome ¢1529).
The dissolution of the abbeys and monas-
teries caused nation-wide land speculation re-
sulting in widespread growth of profiteers.
By the time Elizabeth was entrenched in
power (1558-1603) the revolutionary role of
the bourgeoisie had reflected itself clearly—for
example, in the type of architecture, which no
longer concentrated on church or castle but on
the domestic house. The middle classes had
already obtained most of England’s wealth.
In power and influence they had approached
the nobility so closely that a gentleman land-
owner had a perfect right to challenge any
noble, from a duke down. Like her Tudor
forebears, Elizabeth was prone to exclude
nobles from important governmental posts in
favor of intellectually capable members of the
bourgeoisie. England was divided into nu-
merous layers of classes, in accordance with
the numerous gradations in wealth and rank.

‘the lower classes, augmented by the freez-

ing out of the subsistence farmer, failed to
define themselves in any program of organized
demands. There were pamphlets published
against the government, as well as strong pop-
ulist movements. But these attacks were rela-
tively sporadic and caused no basic change in
the system. Elizabeth’s Poor Law, designed
to solve upper class griefs caused by the beg-
gar class that roamed the country, succeeded
in stifling the flames of any national prole-
tarian uprising . . . all to the deeper security
of the bourgeoisie which had displaced the no-
bility as the economic basis of the crown.
Shakespeare, from what scraps we possess
of his career, followed the usual pattern of
a member of the lower middle class who made
good. His native Stratford-on-Avon was a
typical small metropolis, flourishing architec-
turally, stratified with a social hierarchy of
its own, a select retiring place for solid
citizens. His father, originally a farm tenant,
became a glover and married the daughter of
a rich farmer. Before Shakespeare left for
London he also had married the daughter of
a rich farmer. Most of the myths that have
obscured his career — that he was a poacher,
wife-deserter, Bohemian, held horses outside
theatres—have been summarily disposed of 1.
We can now be reasonably sure that he went
to London in his youth, made a great success

(1) J. S. Smart, Shakespeare: Truth and Tradi-
tion (Longmans, 1928). This documented investi-
gation smashes the mystical notion of Shakespeare
as an unlettered ignoramus inspired by God-given
flashes of genius. Many of Shakespeare’s foreign
references supposedly lifted from translations mever
appear in the original.
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in the theatre, and returned to Stratford rich
enough to buy the finest house in town and
conformist enough to request a coat of arms
for his household.

By 1592 he had become a leading actor in
England’s foremost theatrical company ; before
a decade had elapsed his advance was such
that the playwright Chettle, with whom he
became embroiled, apologized and mentioned
that ‘“divers of worship” had attested to
Shakespeare’s character and standing. The tes-
tifiers were the dashing young bucks among
the nobility with whom he associated and for
whose delectation he wrote his plays—Essex,
Southampton, and other friends of Lord
Strange. It is important to remember that
in his intercourse with the intelligentsia of the
nobility, Shakespeare knew that as a bourgeois
he could go just so far and no further. Every
acting company served some lord ; in fact, each
leading noble manor-house was in itself a
miniature court, having its own retinue of art-
ists; musicians, etc. Whatever his aspirations
to noble rank may have been, there is no in-
disputable proof of them in his plays. In-
deed, he gives no evidence of having seriously
questioned the hierarchy of clusses, either from
the right or the left. And we find no indi-
cations of his having ever questioned the right-
ness of a system which exploited vast numbers
of lower class Englishmen whom it compelled
to live in poverty, filth, and servility. Shake-
speare’s much lauded “universality” and “hu-
man sympathy” fail to include the overwhelm-
ing numbers of the proletariat—which need
hardly surprise us when we recognize that his
works reveal him as a class-conscious member
of the Elizabethan bourgeoisie.

But as a bourgeois Shakespeare achieved
something which none of his contemporaries
could approach: a breadth of knowledge of his
class, of its aspirations and failures, of its re-
actions in the face of love, death, treachery,
revenge, and so on. It is today common
knowledge that a number of his characters
were variations on his contemporaries and in-
tended (probably) as designs for personal con-
duct—“patterns. for ideal action”—all, of
course, within the framework of values which
his class took over and developed from the
nobility. Nevertheless, within these limita-
tions Shakespeare succeeded in shaping charac-
ters whose artistic realism can hardly be ques-
tioned ; whose mouths are made to utter frag-
ments of magnificent poetry and absorbing,
ringing truth. Today it would be almost
childish to argue the importance of his plays
as psychological penetrations of character. No
literate person needs to be told this. But it
is necessary, for our present purpose, to em-
phasize the enormous value of Shakespeare as

CHelsea 2-9148 Greenwich Village

Meet me at | " GROVE STREET N. Y. ©.
7-3 Cor. Sheridan Sq.
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an illuminator of his contemporaries, of their
sense of values, of the mind and character of
the dominant Elizabethan classes. Thus for
documentary as well as artistic reasons,
Shakespeare’s plays are of inestimable im-
portance to revolutionary criticism.

‘Whether or not these plays can be enjoyed
as plays is another matter. It is hardly neces-
sary in this cursory note to discuss Shakes-
peare’s magnificent stature as an artist; for
the playgoer content with fragments almost
any Shakespeare play holds delight; but for
the enormous majority that judges a play in
its totality, the problem is far more compli-
cated. The Soviet theatre, for example, has
regarded Hamlet as essentially a study of a
neurotic whose vacillation and spectral fears
are the stuff for humor rather than tragical
pity. From an American playgoer aware of the
genuine reasons for international war, Henry
V’s “stirring speech” to his men, which high
school students are obliged to recite with the
appropriate obligato of emotions—all that this
can draw is an irreverent and wry smirk:

Once more unto the breach, dear friends, once
more;
Or close the wall up with our English dead!
In peace there’s nothing so becomes a man
~ As modest stillness and humility:
But when the blast of war blows in our ears,
Then imitate the action of the tiger;

The central theme of King Lear and his
daughters loses contemporary significance to
those who have arrived at a basic understand-
ing of the family as an institution ; who realize
its origin as an economic measure and its fu-
ture as something which must be made com-
patible with a classless society or disappear.

For similar reasons the historical plays must
be regarded in an entirely new light: the light
which Marxism as a world philosophy sheds
upon all phenomena. It is no feat of percep-
tion to recognize in the plays of medievalism,
drenched in blood, the assertive pride of a
bourgeois mercilessly exposing the feudalism
which his class had driven out. Nor is it
difficult to see in the chronicle plays the class-
conscious bourgeois in his emphasis on na-
tional unity writing powerful propaganda for
the British empire. In a cursory note like
this, however, we can do no more than indi-
cate some of the facets which the thorough
scholar must examine in a full consideration
of Shakespeare.

That Shakespeare gives credence to super-
natural manifestations now recognizable as il-
lusory is, of course, known to everyone who
has read him; but unless we understand this
as a hang-over from medievalism we fail to
understand its significance at the time Shake-
speare lived. Alchemy, cabalism and all forms
of occultism remained part of the mental cli-
mate well into the seventeenth century; they
were part of the intellectual baggage not only
of proletarians and nobility, but of enlightened
writers as well. It is impossible to regard
them, therefore, as constituting an attitude
original with Shakespeare or as beliefs pecul-
iar to him. When we meet them in his plays
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they may be recognized as anachronisms, fre-
quently as character-devices, sometimes as con-
venient symbols, but hardly as essentials of
the Shakespearian point of view. Indeed, it
has been impossible, as students pointed out,
to abstract from Shakespeare’s body of work
any consistent philosophic approach to life. At
one time faith in man is adduced with convic-
tion only to be discredited by sceptical state-
ment elsewhere; and this is true of other in-
dicative bases of his world view. Each char-
acter consistent with his experience and motiv-
ation contributes his particular philosophy—
making a totality chaotic with contradiction:
unreconciled relative truths.

In The Essential Shakespeare Prof. Wilson
attempts to find one all-pervading world
vision of Shakespeare’s which sums up and rec-
onciles the totality of the dramatist’s utter-
ances. In order to make Shakespeare fit in
with his thesis, he is compelled to turn him
into a religious platonist whose final, all-sub-
suming conception of life is a kind of apoca-
lyptic vision—an ingenious demonstration in-
deed. But there is nothing incontrovertible
in all this, and despite Wilson’s fresh commen-
taries on The Tempest the argument utterly
fails to convince. Shakespeare remains an in-
dividual consistently changing from one philo-
sophical judgment to another, and apparently
disinterested in—perhaps determined against
—placing in any single world “mouthpiece”
character an all-inclusive world philosophy
capable of subsuming the conflicting ideas
that weave in and out of his plays.

It would be much more reasonable, it seems
to me, to substantiate a case for a sceptical
Shakespeare, one who gleaned a modicum of
truth here and there and elsewhere, but was
unable to reconcile them into a satisfactory
whole, and unable, therefore, to arrive at any
serene, consistent or satisfying philosophy.
Frequently, in fact, his searching mind re-
flects some of the contradictions of his period
which was able to enjoy exquisite music and
tender lyrics as well as the hangman’s ability
to disembowel victims before they lost con-
sciousness. That Shakespeare went beyond
his time would be difficult to prove from his
work; but that he presents despite the strict
limitations of his class attitude an unexampled
record of his period—this is something which
the historian as well as the esthetician in the
Marxist critic can acknowledge with admira-
tion. Although phases of his work can be
matched by fragments from other poets, he
stands head and shoulders above them by his
single possession of their combined attributes;
the breadth of his interests; the depth to
which he penetrated representative characters
from the classes he chose to understand; the
degree and range by which he outdistanced
his contemporaries in the poetic objectives of
his period.

Perhaps this material for a note on Shake-
speare may indicate the enormous need for a
revolutionary evaluation of him; perhaps it
may prove a suggestion to some Marxist lit-
erary scholar in search of a theme.

STANLEY BURNSHAW.
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Arming the Masses

FOUNDATIONS OF LENINISM, by
Joseph Stalin. International Publishers.
10cC.

HORTLY after the death of Lenin in

1924 Stalin delivered a series of lectures
~ on the teachings of Lenin before the students
of Sverdlov University in Moscow. These
lectures, the Foundations of Leninism, have
taken rank among the classics of Marxism.
Foundations of Leninism has been translated
into twenty-six languages; 10,000,000 copies
have been sold in Russia alone. F ormerly one
could get it in Leninism, Vol. I, and in
a forty-cent edition. Now here it is attrac-
tively printed in booklet form, ten cents a
copy, to be carried around till mastered in
your pocket as in a holster. The 100,000
copies distributed all over the country is a real
spreading of arms among the American masses.
 The greatest of living revolutionaries
“breaks” the weapon of Leninism, shows us in
masterly fashion the different principal parts;
exposes the mechanics of the Second Interna-
tional, explains the workings of this mass
weapon, explains why it cannot work in any
other way, and points out the inevitable di-
rection.  These lectures are: Historical
Method of Leninism, Theory of Dictatorship
of the Proletariat, Peasant Question, Na-
tional Question, Strategy and Tactics, The
Party and Style of Work.

Let us look at the introduction and the first
chapter to get the caliber of Foundations of
Leninism.  In the introduction Stalin gives
us the splendid definition “Leninism is Marx-
ism in the epoch of imperialism and the prole-
tarian revolution.” He then proceeds in the
“Historical Roots of Leninism” to show how
Leninism grew and developed in that period
of imperialism in which the contradictions of
capitalism are carried to that point where rev-
olution begins. The thtee chief contradictions
are: (1) the intensification of the struggle
between capital and labor; (2) the sharpen-
ing of the struggle of the imperialist powers
for world markets; (3) the awakening of na-
tional consciousness and the quickening of the
revolutionary movements in the colonies. The
Woirld War gathered these contradictions
into a single sheaf and threw them onto the
scales, speeding up the revolutionary battles of
. the proletariat. The international situation
gave birth to Leninism. Russia, the junction
point of the contradictions of imperialism, be-
comes the home of Leninism, becomes the cen-
ter of the revolutionary movement instead of
Germany. Led by its Leninist Communist
Party, Russia becomes the first country to”
overthrow capitalism and to forge a new
weapon of struggle for the world proletariat:
the theory and tactics of revolution.

For the American masses there are answers
to many questions in this handbook of revo-
lution. Take the “theoretical dogma” of the
opportunists who assert that the proletariat
cannot and ought not seize power if it does

not itself constitute a majority in the country.
Smedley Butler, in whom many honest anti-
fascists strangely see an ally, asserted at a
meeting of Pennsylvania farmers last year that
so long as two-thirds of the people are not
starving and are not well organized there can
be no revolution. Stalin shows how the prac-
tical experience of the Russian proletariat
proves such an assertion to be false. Take
the whole problem of theory which the prac-
tical American worker is likely to consider a
waste of time. Stalin shows how without
theory there can be no real proletarian move-
ment; theory and practice go together like the
two sets of muscles which make up the biceps
giving the mass fist its force. And the last
chapter, called “Style of Work,” should
strike home particularly inasmuch as it shows
that the true Leninist fighter is he whose work
combines the wide revolutionary range of ac-
tion with that American efficiency which is an
antidote to “revolutionary” phrase mongering
and fantastic invention.

All great political thinkers have been pow-
erful writers. This is especially true of Marx,
Engels, Lenin, Stalin, men of action as well
as thinkers. The power of Stalin lies in this:
that possibly more than the others his works
move not only the vanguard but also the most
backward of the masses everywhere today who
thunder back their answers in revolutionary
action. His style is simple, clean, concrete,
reinforced with an iron logic, drawn from our
every-day experiences. The words are warm,
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well used as a tool-handle which-leaps in our
fists immediately. He builds up ‘unshatterable
paragraphs which flash with imagery and
wit and that finality which marks all sterling
writing (see that paragraph in the report to
the Sixteenth Congress, Leninism, Vol. II,
in which he discusses the counter-revolution-
aries, U.S.S.R.’s rejected commodities).

Stalin’s style, his method of presenting a
question, his exposition, his crystal summings
up are being studied more and more by every
careful revolutionary acting as a recruiting
sergeant among the American masses and petty
bourgeoisie. This style, this method can be
of invaluable help to every revolutionary
writer who strives to have his work help in
this arming for growing struggles. Every
report of Stalin is a dialogue, not the So-
cratic dialogue in which the master uses the
other speaker as a stooge, but that dialogue in
which the participants exchange views on
equal terms and in the end are influenced by
one another. Stalin’s method reminds one of
a fine story printed a number of years ago in
International Literature about an old peas-
ant who becomes a farm organizer. The’
green organizer cannot speak to gatherings of
peasants. He finally hits on the idea of call-
ing up a peasant and talking to him as though
they are out alone in the field. And in this
dialogue the problems of collectivization are
threshed out before the whole village.

We hail this edition of Foundations of
Leninism. Latest reports indicate that more
than two-thirds of these 100,000 copies have
been sold. The American masses are waiting
for further arms. Ben FikLp.

American Decadence Mapped

PATTERNS OF WOLFPEN, by Harlan
Hatcher. Bobbs-Merrill. $2.50.

FEBRUARY HILL, by Victoria Lincoln.
Farrar and Rinehart. $2.50.

SUMMER IN WILLIAMSBURG, by
Daniel Fuchs. Vanguard Press. $2.50.
PORTRAIT OF EDEN, by Margaret

Sperry. Liveright. $2.50.

ACH of these novels treats of a different
section of the United States, and accord-

ing to their testimony the land of the free
and the home of the brave has turned into a
shambles. Even Patterns of W olfpen, which
describes an isolated section of Kentucky in
1885, takes as its theme the destruction of

. beauty and tranquillity by “industrialism.” The

trouble begins when Sparrel Pattern, a type of
great-hearted, ingenious American, sells a part
of the land which his family has owned for
four generations. Lumbermen buy it, and they
not only lay waste the land but, bit by bit,
they undermine the peace of the Pattern fam-
ily, and finally Sparrel himself is killed in a
loggers’ brawl. Cynthia Pattern, our hero-
ine, as painful a “dream-touched soul” as any
I have met, finds solace in love.

In February Hill, whose setting is, presum-
ably, the outskirts of Providence, Rhode Is-

land, the author deals with a family of de-
fiant outcasts. The grandmother goes in for
rouge and earrings; the mother, Minna, is
apparently modeled after Mae West, and sup-
ports the family by going on “week-end trips”;
the husband is an ineffectual, educated drunk-
ard; Jenny steals, and lives happily with her
upstanding young smuggler; Joel takes after
his father. Miss Lincoln makes this family
a good deal more sympathetic than most re-
spectable families, but to prefer the amoral
to the moral is no longer startling. Today a
novelist with insight starts from that point.
To use this decadent family merely as a
source of humor argues a lack of sensitivity.

Summer in Williamsburg dissects a Jewish
slum section of Brooklyn. Daniel Fuchs, the
twenty-five year old C. C. N. Y. graduate
who wrote it, is clever and his technique is
mature. His picture of Williamsburg has a
good many of the qualities which made Jews
Without Money so popular, though gentiles
will find certain sections puzzling. There is
a plethora of characters, including Philip
Hayman and Cohen, both would-be writers, a
miser, an aged philosopher, Davey the incipi-
ent gangster, Sam Linck and his mistress
Marge, and a butcher named Sussman whose
suicide in the first chapter gives Philip an op-
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portunity to collect Williamsburg phenomena,
in the search for the cause. There is none,
and in conclusion Philip-Daniel states, “Vain-
ly . .. do I seek within me something mag-
nificent, worth enthusiasm, worth labor, to
guide me for the next forty or fifty years to
come. Shall I continue in my quiet anesthesia
and contemplate myself imperturbably? Self-
possessed, controlled and analytical, above and
indifferent to everything, but really dead years
before my time?” This self-contemplation
may account for Mr. Fuchs’ dislike of Com-
munism, It is a luxury which is sweet still
to individualist writers, but which proletarian
writers have abandoned because they do not
want “the quiet anesthesia’” which  renders
the addict “indifferent to everything, but
really dead years before my time.” His book
is an entertaining and vivid picture of the
surfaces of Williamsburg.

Portrait of Eden, which contains as many
characters as Summer in Williamsburg, de-
scribes vividly the malodorous corruption of a
Florida town named Eden. Church and poli-
tician ridden, it hugs its prejudices and super-
stitions to heart and refuses to allow Doctor
MacIntyre and his Negro protege to intro-
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duce science or schools for Negroes into the later. If many European mechanical con-

town. It is a good book, though it tends to
go melodramatic and the style occasionally
turns lurid. It would have been even better
if the author had got more deeply into the
underlying antagonisms. She sees nothing ri-
diculous in having Maclntyre’s campaign
against something called “competition” financ-
ed by a millionaire, and her Negro, trapped
in a Negro church and about to be lynched,
finds nothing more important to say to his
fellows than to inform them that they are
“slaves of fear.”

Score: one idyll, three pictures of decadence
flavored with (a) humor (b) pessimism (c)
reformism. They are all well-written and all
readable (the least so being Patterns of Wolf-
pén). Assuming that this is a representative

sampling, the conclusion seems to be that:

American novelists, other than those of out-
right proletarian inclinations, are, to a certain
extent, aware of conditions and do not hesitate
to portray them. But it is also true that
most of them are still so lost in day dreams
of individualism, and in the mists of reform,
as not to see clearly what they look at.
SAMUEL LEVENSON.

Fire on the Andes

FIRE ON THE ANDES by Carleton
Beals. Lippincott, $3.

HERE are two excellent reasons why

Fire on the Andes, for all its limitations,
is to be recommended : it is the best all round
book on Peru in English; and despite the
Chaco war—perhaps even because of it—Peru
is shown to be still the most interesting
country in South America. First because of
its history. As the seat of the pre-Conquest
Incan empire, it was at one time one of the
most civilized nations that the world has seen;
and what is even more significant, it reached
a higher degree of socialized organization
than was ever known before the birth of the
Soviet Union. It was truly a co-operative
commonwealth in which unemployment and

starvation were unknown, in which a planned
economy made possible an intensified agricul-
ture, vast public works developments and a
nation-wide material well-being in the face of
geographic difficulties which neither Greece
nor Rome nor pre-industrial Europe, as we
know them, could have survived.

To-day, after 400 years of Christian love
and exploitation, the bondage under Spanish
feudalism and Anglo-American capitalism,
Peru is one of the most backward countries
in the western world. Beals sums up the
history of Peru without mincing words:
“Ancient Peru was more prosperous, with a
larger population, with more guarantees for
decent livelihood, with a more integrated sys-
tem of communications, with more advanced
agriculture . . . than exists today centuries
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is selling this book, published
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trivances were lacking, nevertheless, by any
comparative standard, neither the Spaniards
nor the governments of the Republic have jus-
tified their right to rule.”” The conclusions
to be drawn from this are obvious.

Such has been Peru’s historic réle in the
past. But now the Peruvian Indian is rap-
idly preparing to strike at his exploiters.
Time and time before he has revolted only
to be ruthlessly slaughtered after each defeat.
At this moment, however, there is every in-
dication that the day of reckoning is close at
hand. And when it comes, according to
Beals, “perhaps the first argarian Soviet State
in the Americas will arise in this region.”
The Chaco war may yet play a part in this
momentous upheaval. Bolivia’s defeat, ever
more imminent, might well be the occasion
of a serious revolt by well-armed Bolivian
Indians which would undoubtedly provide the
spark to set off a Peruvian revolution. What-
ever such an event might finally lead to, it
could easily bring about a new Bolivian-
Peruvian Communist federation.

We referred above to the limitations of this
book. Perhaps they are less serious here than
in the rest of the author’s work. Beals has
been a valuable ally in exposing the true na-
ture of Latin America’s servitude. He has
had the knack of digging out the facts and
getting them into print for everybody to see.
However, all too often he fails to interpret
with sufficient realism the very facts which his
own realistic method has helped him to col-
lect and put before the reader. The result
is that Beal’s work has been that of a first-
class muck-raker and a highly entertaining
“travel” writer rather than that of a
thoroughgoing political and social analyst.
But he is still young and is learning. In
Fire on the Andes he is less open to this
criticism than before. He clearly undertands,
e.g., the social-fascist nature of “Aprismo”,
the essential opportunism of Haya de la Torre
and the class basis of Peru’s coming revolu-
tion.

Yet nowhere does he take time out to ex-
plain why Communism presents the only sat-
isfactory solution to Peru’s and all Latin
America’s problems, though his own data cry
aloud for a definite appraisal. He spends
page after page describing scenery and piquant
anecdotes, yet he has only a few lines for
Mariitegui, as great a thinker as the western
hemisphere has known. He readily concedes
his importance as a literary figure but sees
nothing especially interesting in the fact that
Maridtegui was a Marxist, the most brilliant
in the Americas; nor does he point out the
tremendous influence which his writings, and
through them Marxism, now wields in Peru’s
seething revolutionary movements. It is the
reviewer’s guess, nevertheless, that Beals read
Mariategui in preparing this book and that
the cripped Peruvian Communist is at least
partly responsible for the tighter grasp of
fundamentals which distinguishes Fire on the
Andes from its author’s previous work.

Frank L. Gorpon.
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Brief Review

PILGRIMAGE OF IDEAS, or the re-
education of Sherwood Eddy. Farrar and
Rinehart. $2.50.

HERWOOD EDDY has attempted a

survey of the world here. He has been
exposed to living conditions in most of its
countries and has preserved his Y.M.C.A. in-
tegrity through the war, the change from
passivity to active rebellion in the Far East,
the collapse into dictatorship of Western
Europe. The beginning of his pilgrimage was
Kansas in the *70s; he reached a point where
he “ceased to be a liberal asking alms of
capitalism,” became “a radical demanding the
- justice of socialism.” That may have been his
goal but how far from it his early mis-educa-
tion (which he acknowledges openly and
well) has washed him is shown by his belief
in Buchmanism and that pacifism is the
final step in the class struggle. “I will not
hate and I will not kill. I think I have found
a better weapon than a machine gun. I would
try to use the same creative and constructive
weapon which Gandhi wields today and which
was wielded by Jesus of Nazareth centuries
ago.” No wonder fascists accept such smug and
self-righteous passiveness of the do-nothing
liberal as an invitation.

THE MAKER OF SIGNS, by W hit Bur-
nett. New York: Harrison Smith and
Robert Haas. $2.50

These short stories by the editor of Story
are, to some extent, an excellent explanation
of Mr. Burnett’s enthusiasm for William
Saroyan’s work. (Story was the first periodi-
cal to publish Saroyan.) Whatever failings
Saroyan may have as a short story writer, it
must be admitted that he writes with a vi-
tality that few modern bourgeois writers have.
Mr. Burnett’s stories, on the whole, lack vi-
tality. Many of those in this volume are pale
compositions, impressive for their grace, but
disappointing in their inability to create any
effects that we can respond to sympathetically.
His friend Edward J. O’Brien, that God-
Almighty judge of short stories, says of Mr.
Burnett: “He arrests life and presents it with
a cool intensity at its most significant mo-
ments.” It is good criticism, in spite of the
fact that O’Brien meant to be entirely compli-
mentary. Burnett does arrest life—to the ex-
tent that you are constantly thinking of still-
life pictures when you are reading him; and
his intensity is so cool as to leave you some-
what cold. The best short stories in this
volume are those where time doesn’t stand
still: “The Under Thing,” a memorable
study of an old man who commuted on a
ferry for years, always with a sense of loneli-
ness; “Three Thousand Times a Day” and
“One of Those Literary Guys,” two stories
that treat realistically with the experiences of
young newspaper reporters, and one or two
others that have American expatriates as their
chief protagonists.

DEISM IN EIGHTEENTH CENTURY
AMERICA, by Herbert M. Morais. Col-
umbia University Press. $3.50.

American deism had two sources: the Eng-
lish rationalism of Locke and Newton and
the Revolution of 1688, and the more militant
anti-clericalism of Voltaire and Volney and
the French Revolution of 1792. Deism was
very common among the bourgeois-revolution-
ary Founding Fathers of this country, but it
was played down for reasons of social pru-
dence and the fear that if it spread among
the masses they might become less tractable.
This was especially true after the reaction in
America toward the turn of the century, when

Robespierre, atheism and Jeffersonianism were .

lumped together in a kind of red scare. “Con-
sequently, any intellectual who popularized
deism stamped himself so far as the upper
classes were concerned as an enemy of so-
ciety.”  But Thomas Paine, Elihu Palmer,
John Fitch and others did start pro-French
deistic societies, were furiously attacked, and
found their chief support in the working-
classes. Lacking a firm economic base, the
movement weakened before the spread of
camp-meeting evangelism. But it planted the
traditional atheist in the American village, and
at some points extending its criticism to the
rights of property, prepared for the work of
Robert Dale, Owen and Fanny Wright and
other pre-Civil War reformers.
recognizes the class influences on religious at-
titudes, but it is not well synthesized, and
gives an effect of repetition in its too many,
too brief references.

This book .
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Book Notes

Included in the courses for the Winter
term at the New York Workers’ School at
35 E. 12th Street, is one given under the
auspices of THE NEw MassEes on the Revo-
lutionary Interpretation of Modern Litera-
ture. The lecturers will include Granville
Hicks, Joseph Freeman, Joshua Kunitz, Stan-
ley Burnshaw, Henry Hart, Isidor Schneider
and others. The Workers’ School has grown
into a vital institution. Its courses are a cor-
rective to the falsifications of capitalist educa-
tion and a powerful force for a realistic under-
standing of the contemporary world. The
term begins January 7th. Registration is
going on this week.

Who says our public men, unlike the Brit-
ish and French higher-ups, are not great cul
tural figures? Some of them through ghostly
agencies, others by their own good pens, have
written books. No less a figure than his
Brass-Buttonship General Hugh Johnson,
joined the department-store autograph bees,
signing two masterpieces, W illiams on Service,
and Williams at West Point, aimed (liter-
ally aimed) at our younger generation.

Liveright, Inc., wants all our readers to
know that George Moore’'s Story Tellers
Holiday, which they are reissuing, was once
violently attacked for obscenity. We get the
point, Liveright, Inc.

Choosing the prize blurb of 1934 would
be a hard job. Our choice would go to the
veteran, Alexander Woollcott, who con-
fessed that he went “quietly mad over Lost
Horizon.” Mad, maybe. But quietly, Alec?
Never.
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Art

Désign for a Parasite Class

[TH the great success of the 1925

Salon of Decorative Arts in Paris

the modern movement in design
achieved such prestige in Europe as to war-
rant its importation to our shores. A few of
our own designers, mostly architects, had been
pioneering since the beginning of the century
and earlier, but these were isolated efforts,
practically unknown to the public. About
1927-28 a few department stores in New York
City gave the movement its debut in this coun-
try with several large and well-publicized ex-
hibitions which immediately achieved a suc-
cés d’estime. Just as Printemps, Bon Marché,
and Galeries Lafayette were the main purvey-
ors to the French public so Lord & Taylor,
Saks, Macy, Altman, etc., became the car-
riers of modernism here. The revolt against
the cheap and gaudy vulgarity and stupid ec-
lecticism of the Brown Decades broke out into
what looked like a real revolution as the suc-
cesses of the department store exhibitions en-
couraged more and more designers to “turn
modern.” On the whole the effect was salu-
tary, even though great quantities of junk and
rubbish were perpetrated in the name of “mod-
ernistic.” The return to simple lines and clean
surfaces was a necessary and healthy reaction
to the meaningless chewing-gum ornamenta-
tion and “period styles” that afflicted (and
still dominate) most of our design.

But the modern movement in design has
virtually died a-borning. As a force in con-
temporary design it is practically used up.
If any evidence of its sterility (in its present
form) is necessary the exhibition of Con-
temporary American Industrial Art at the
Metropolitan Museum amply supplies it. It
is poorer in quality and quantity than the 1929
exhibit at the Museum, and far inferior to
almost any of the early department store ex-
hibits. For an exhibition purporting to rep-
resent contemporary design it is pathetic. A
few hackneyed and trivial interiors, and a
mere handful of objects, for the most part
mediocre and not too well selected, make up
this exhibit.

Why this decline of the modern movement
almost before it had well begun?

Obviously it is beyond the scope of a short
article to attempt a thorough and detailed
study of so complex a phenomenon but we can
touch on some of its salient aspects. One of
the essentials of any healthy and progressive
culture is its root in the masses of the people.
For modern design to “take hold” and grow
in this country two component and interacting
parts of a single process are necessary.

1. Wide education of the population, child
and adult, to a better set of esthetic values
(by education I mean not only the schools but
also those important forces of opinion-mould-

-serve bourgeois snobocracy.

ing such as the press, the radio, books, maga-
zines, etc.) and

2. The economic and social structure which
could make such a program of education pos-
sible, and what is more important, provide
the public with the purchasing power to buy
well-designed commodities.

The movement for good design is suffering
from inanition precisely because it has failed
in the above-mentioned essentials. Even if it
were possible to fulfil the first requisite
(which it is not) the second is quite beyond
the social and economic system under which
we are living. Even today after some years
of intensive plugging at manufacturers by our
modern designers one cannot buy decent sim-
ple furnishings or well-designed industrial
commodities that are within the means of the
worker of modest income. The poorly-de-
signed junk is far cheaper in price, and so long
as this is true just so long will those who buy
‘and “count their pennies” buy the poorly-de-
signed objects. Some of our more ardent re-
formers in the field of design have fulminated
against the manufacturers. “If only they were
willing to have good designers design their
products we could quickly bring about a revo-
lution in public taste, and raise the standards
of design.” But the manufacturer is inter-
ested primarily in profits, not in elevating
the level of public taste and standards of de-
sign. Only if he thinks he can make a profit
will he change to new and better design, and
the number of such manufacturers has been
significantly small. If he is able to sell his
poorly-designed article at a profit there will
be little or no chance to get him to change.
He prefers to exploit the cultural backward-
ness of the public by giving them the vulgar
design to which they have been accustomed.
He can hire incompetent designers for less
salary and sell the product easily. So one
comes up against the vicious circle which a
decadent capitalist society makes inevitable.

- The modern movement in design has with
little and few exceptions been fashioned to
This is due not
to any conscious intent on the part of the de-
signer but to the demands of the capitalist
market. If only the wealthy can afford to
buy modern design then the designers will
provide for that class. The commodity is
fashioned to suit the demands and character
of the purchaser. One has only to look at the
exhibit at the Metropolitan Museum to real-

_ize how thoroughly it is permeated with the

habits and mental atmosphere of the rich
bourgeoisie. Here is design for a parasite
class. That is not to say however that there
are no good elements to be found here. On
the contrary, the designer who would design
appropriately for the working class would
make use of the best elements in modern de-

NEW MASSES

sign, but in a new synthesis.  His design will
be conditioned not only by the class for whom
he creates but also by the historic needs of that
class. A few modern designers who have come
to understand the nature of capitalist society
and its inherent barriers to a logical and de-
cent esthetic, have nevertheless held out for
various forms of modernism in their bourgeois
adaptations as being quite suitable to Socialist
and Communist societies . . . all that would be
necessary would be to make these super-fine
things available to everyone. A sort of es-
thete’s version of the automobile manufactur-
er’s slogan of “T'wo Cars in Every Garage”

. . only in this case it would read “A Mies
von der Rohe Country Villa for Every
Worker.” This sort of thinking fails to com-
prehend one of the most fundamental truths
about design, namely that design has a con-
tent. Not in any absolute or - mechanical
sense, of course, but undeniably the design of
a period is inter-related to the socio-economic
structure in which it was created, and is of a
certain historic period. So with this exhibi-
tion. It is the expression of a section of a
definite class. It is of interest to rich brok-
ers’ wives who are doing the town house over
this season and are not quite decided on
whether to make the living room Tudor or
Modernistic; to the designer who is looking
for a commission or two these hard days; to
the decorators and manufacturers whe think

_they may be able to get a cut of what little

business turns up; to the stage and movie-set
designer who must know what the smart Park
Ave. apartment will be like this season so that
he can provide the proper background for the
new Guild conversation-piece about the so-
phisticated Younger Set. For the rest of the
population it has little meaning or relevance
and for the working class in particular it i$
a brutal reminder of the “charm and grace”
with which its exploiters live.
: STEPHEN ALEXANDER.

SAAR BASIN PLEBISCITE

? for status quo ? for France ? for Hitler
which way for the American student?
Maria Halberstadt, German Exile
Hang Baer, German Student Refugee
Edwin Alexander

NATIONAL STUDENT LEAGUE
257 Seventh Avenue (Near 24th Street)
Admission: Twenty-five Cents

Friday JANUARY 11, 1935 8:00 P. M.

UNITY DANCE

Negro and White Professionals
Students and Intellectuals

Dunbar Palace, 7th Ave. & 139th St.
Sat., Jan. 5th, 9 P. M.

Musical Program—Entertainment
Auspices: American Vanguard

Subscription -45¢
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Current

S AILORS OF CATTARO, by Friedrich
Wolf (translated by Keene Wallis and
adapted by Michael Blankfort). Civic Reper-
tory. Far and away the most important play
in New York, with moments of masterly
drama; on the whole brilliantly acted against
the truly magnificent set by Mordecai
Gorelik. Telling the story of the Feb. 1,
1918 rebellion of the Austrian fleet in the Bay
of Cattaro, the action follows history closely.
But dramatist Wolf’s posing of the problem
of individual as against collective leadership
confuses rather than clarifies the issues. Full
of provocative problems for the revolutionary
theatre, this third play of the Theatre Union
is required attendance of all readers of this
department. Cheapest seat 30 cents, tax free.
(The Group Theatre, incidentally, advises us
that we were wrong in having staged [THE
NEw Masses, Dec. 25] that Sailors of Cat-
taro was offered to them only to be rejected.)

Romeo and Juliet. Martin Beck T heatre.
Katharine Cornell’s production excellently
staged by Guthrie McClintic. The most re-
freshing interpretation of this text, and one
of the finest Shakespearian productions we
have ever seen; guided by taste, intelligence,
and originality. Basil Rathbone’s Romeo is
below the level of the other acting, which is
generally excellent.

New Theatre Night: Sunday, Jan. 6. Civic
Repertory. Revolutionary plays and dances.
Waiting for Lefty, a new play by Clifford
Odets and the Theatre Union’s prize-winning
play God’s in His Heaven, produced by the
cast of Gold Eagle Guy. Also Anna Sokolow,
one of the most brilliant revolutionary dancers
in America, in a group of solo dances. New
Theatre evenings are indispensable to everyone
interested in the left-wing theatre. Cheapest

=== Theatre Union’s Thundering Success =

“THE MOST IMPORTANT PLAY IN NEW YORK”
tanley Burnshaw, New Masses

SAILORS -- CATTARO

CIVIC REPERTORY THEA. 14 St. & 6 Ave.
Eves. 8:45. Mats. Tues. & Sat. 2:45. 30c¢-$1.50. No tax

THE GROUP THEATRE presents

“GOLD EAGLEGUY”

By MELVIN LEVY
“AN IMPORTANT PLAY”—New Masses
Belasco Theatre, W. 44th St., Mat. Thurs. & Sat.

For information on reduced rates for benefit theatre parties.
call Helen Thompson, PEnnsylvania 6-0908

Theatre

seat 25 cents (at the box office or 114 W. 14th
St.).

Tobacco Road. Forrest Theatre. Erskine
Caldwell’s novel dramatized by James Kirk-
land. Presents an incredible amount of start-
ling facts about the lives of poor white Geor-
gia farmers, though not the whole truth, of
course. One of the best plays in New York,
now in its second year.

Birthday. 49th Street Theatre. A widow
wants to remarry and her sixteen-year old
daughter is pathological on the subject, but
before the final curtain love conquers all.
Peggy Wood fails in her desperate attempt to
vitalize one of the most intolerable dramatic
bores that we have ever suffered.

Recruits. Artef Theatre (247 W. 48th St.)
A brilliant analysis of social forces in the
Ghetto during the 1800-1850 period. If you
understand Yiddish make certain to attend.
The production is exquisitely beautiful.

The Children’s Hour. Maxine Elliot T hea-
tre. The lives of two school teachers wrecked
by the actions of a pathological schoolgirl.
Miss Hellman’s faultless dialogue covers up
many a technical hole; Kathryn Emery and
Ann Revere are excellent actresses, and the
morbidity is sensational enough to bring super-
latives from the press and crowds to the box
office. Indeed, this play has sufficient surface
qualities to impress those who are prone to
mistake an unhappy ending for a play of real
worth.

Gold Eagle Guy. Group Theatre (at Mo-
rosco Theatre). J. Edward Bromberg gives a
first-rate performance of “Gold Eagle Guy”
Button, author Melvin Levy’s improvisation
on the character of the merchant marine
prince, Robert Dollar. Levy removes most of
the shams from the capitalist type, yet Guy
Button is altogether too fascinating a scoun-
drel. Despite the thinness of the play it is
important as a picture of capitalist corruption
and thoroughly enjoyable as theatre.

Merrily We Roll Along. Music Box T hea-
tre. “What shall it profit a man that he gain
the whole world and lose his soul”—in a
well-built melodrama applied to Dorothy

THEATRE UNION, Inc., presents a Dance Recital

and

Her

Group
NEW COMPOSITIONS

SUNDAY EVE., JANUARY 13 at 8:45

CIVIC REPERTORY THEA. 14 St. & 6 Ave.
Seats now: 55c¢, 75¢, $1.00, $1.50 and $2

Last Four Performances of

RECRUITS

NOW PLAYING
every ARTEF
Fri. & Sat. Eve'g l THEATRE
and
Sun, Mat. & Eve'g | = “,’,ff;N;sfh o
PRICEB : o CHickering
e — T8¢ - $1.00 4-7999

Premiere, Saturday Evening January 12 of

DOSTIGAYEYV

The Second Part of Maxim Gorky’s Latest Trilogy

: 29

Parker, George Gershwin and other contem-
porary immortals. Mouch triteness and tech-
nical trickiness, but worth seeing if only to
approve Walter Abel’s acting and to bewail
George S. Kaufman’s wasted talents.

Revenge with Music. New Amsterdam. A
jeering folk-tale of Spain with that certain
something done to it that Broadway knows
so well how to do; consequently it’s hard to
tell what the jeering’s about. Good music
and some funny moments.

United Workers’ Organizations Benefit.
Sunday Night, Jan. 13, at the Fifth Avenue
T heatre. Members of the Group Theatre in
two revolutionary plays: Dimitroff, by Art
Smith and Elia Kazan, and W aiting for Lefty.
Added feature: a program of new music by
Soviet composers played by the Symphonic
Orchestra of the Pierre Degeyter Club of
New York. Cheapest seat 30 cents (on sale
at the Workers’ Bookshops).

Stevedore, by Paul Peters and George
Sklar. Selwyn Theatre. Chicago. The second

_production of the Theatre Union, which was

not only the most successful working-class
drama of American authorship, but New
York’s most important play for two seasons.
Of course, attendance required of all Chicago
readers of THE NEW MASsSEs.

Within the Gates. National Theatre. Sean
O’Casey’s attack on realism rides through two
delightful scenes into an insufferable second
half. His bitter attack on “church” religion
is “resolved” by much febrile toutings of sub-
jective mysticism. The “Down and Outers”
of the contemporary world turn out to be
the masses of humanity who are bankrupt in
spirit. But the acting, staging, music and
choreography of part one are worth seeing.

The Distaff Side. Booth Theatre. Well-
acted, arbitrarily pieced-together “‘problem”
play about an upper middle-class English girl
who has her troubles : which should she marry,
money or art? The World-Telegram thinks
it is “‘a masterpiece of our time” and you will
think it a sorry spectacle—a once promising
playwright spending good talent on what is
relatively zero in the scheme of 1934.

Valley Forge. Guild Theatre. Maxwell
Anderson’s frequently beautiful study of the
War of Independence turns out to be in-
cipient fascist propaganda. He retails the facts
about the passion for profits which actuated
the gentlemen of the Continental Congress;
he suggests that those who talked revolution,
ran it and made our laws were as bad as their
descendants in Congress and Wall Street. In-
dustrial autocracy and rich man’s law must go
—and Anderson’s candidate is a strong man—
an upright wolf who likes sheep and will lead
them away from corruption into ‘the vales of
peace and freedom. Many beautiful passages,
much fine acting (Philip Merivale, Stanley
Ridges, Victor Kilian). S. B.
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Between Ourselves

HE Chicago Friends of THE New

MAssEs have arranged a discussion meet-
ing for Wednesday evening, Jan. 16, with
Joseph Edelman, writer and lecturer, as the
speaker. The subject will be “The History
of THE NEw MAssEs and its place in Amer-
ican Life,” and the meeting will be held in
the Medical and Dental Arts Building, 185
North Wabash, Room 818, at 8.30 p. m.
This is the first of a series of monthly meet-
ings in Chicago to be held by the Friends of
THE NEw MASssEs.

The New York Public Library’s file of the
monthly NEw MASssSEs is incomplete, and the
director, H. M. Lydenberg, has asked us to
help them. Readers who possess copies of the

- monthly, in good condition, and who have
no further use for them, are urged to send
them in to the director, Fifth Avenue and
42nd Street, New York.

“IMPRESSIONS OF RECENT
VISITORS TO U.S.S.R.”

Dinner-Discussion at the

ALDINE CLUB
200 Fifth Avenue New York City
Thursday—6:30 P. M.
January 10, 1934
: speakers:
John R. McMahon Joseph Brainin

Maurice Wertheim  Herbert Goldfrank
ANNA LOUISE STRONG. Guest of Honor
Reservations: $1.25

at
SOVIET RUSSIA TODAY
80 East 11th St. Room 234 New York City
Telephone: GRamercy 5-9879

NEW MASSES
SQUARE REFRIGERATORS AND
RADICO VACUUM CLEANERS

B repaired by men who know how.
\ERV](‘E WE GO ANYWHERE

— Square Radio Company
Phone: Windsor 8-0280, 4910 13th Ave., Brookiyn, N. Y.

PERSONAL STATIONERY

with your name and address imprinted
costs no more than ordinary
Correspondence Paper

200 SHEETS
100 ENVELOPES $1 loo

Printed on white Hammermill Bond
Size 6 x 7
Send Bill, Check, or M. O. to

ANNA LOUISE STRONG

Oldest American resident in the U.S.S.R. .
Associate Editor “Moscow Daily News”
Author—“The Soviets Conquer Wheat”
Arriving from Europe 1st week in Jan.
will speak
on

DICTATORSHIP and
DEMOCRACY in the
SOVIET UNION

FRIDAY

IRVING PLAZA JANAT,
FIFTEENTH STREET ©® 1935
AND IRVING PLACE B
Admission: Thirty-five Cents
Auspices:

FRIENDS OF THE SOVIET UNION
New York District

INDIVIDUAL LETTERS
110 West 40th St. New York, N. Y.

An announcement of the results of our ap-
peal to our readers for a $10,000 expansion
fund will be made shortly.

VACATION AT—

HOTEL ROYALE

708 Princeton Avenue Telephone:
Lakewood, N. J. LAkewood 1146
RATES WITHIN YOUR MEANS
Write for further Information
SONIA GELBAUM ANNA BROUDEH

CAMP NITGEDAIGET

ON THE HUDSON
Beacon, N. Y. 3=2 Beacon 781
An ideal place for rest and recreation
Open all geasons of the year
fotel accommodations with all modern
improvements. Individual attention to diets.
Proletarian Cultural Activities

WRITE FOR SUBSCRIBE TO

NEW
THEATRE

The Only Revolutionary Magazine
of the Theatre Arts

114 W. 14th St. New York City

NEW MASSES LECTURES

Corliss Lamont will speak on the Soviet Union
Friday evening, Jan. 11, at the Brighton Workers
Club, 3200 Coney Island Avenue, Brighton Beach.

Arrangements are under way for a speaking tour
for William Browder to the Pacific coast to take
place between Jan. 11 and Feb. 2.

JOHN STRACHEY

All seats reserved. Tax included.
Tickets: 85¢ 55¢ 83¢ $1.10 at:

‘Workers’ Bookshops, 50 East 13th Street, N. Y. O.

699 Prospect Ave. Bronx 869 Sutter Ave., B’klyn
and at the box office
Auspices: American Youth Club, 1813 Pitkin Ave., B’klyn.

“THE MENACE  OF FASCISM”

QUESTIONS and DISOCUSSION

Toeme 530 JANUARY 11th
BROOKLYN ACADEMY OF MUSIC

LAFAYETTE & HANSON PLACE, BROOKLYN
(all trains to Atlantic Avenue)

$14.00 PER WEEK

Cars Leave 10:30 A. M. Daily from
2700 Bronx Park East, Bronx, N. Y.
New York Central Trains to Beacon
For Further Information—Call:
EStabrook 8-1400

: FRIDAY
JAMES BELL J. EDWARD BROMBERG SOI E
(8tar of TOBACCO ROAD) (Star of GOLD EAGLE GUY) EVENING V D !
jA N. 1 8 YOUR MOVIE EVENINGS

WITH
Film and Photo League’s

WINTER SERIES OF
DISTINGUISHED FILMS
@ PROGRAM No. 1

“CHINA EXPRESS”

Sowviet Film

"SHANGHAI EXPRESS"

Paramount (with MARLENE DIETRICH)

ROBERT KEITH

(Leading Actor in THE CHILDREN’S HOUR)

JACOB BEN-AMI

(Last Seen in A SHIP COMES IN)

1935

JOSEPH MACAULAY

(Featured Singer in REVENGE WITH MUSIC)

and others will appear and perform

at a

GALA ENTERTAINMENT
and DANCE

HEYWOOD BROUN,

Master of Ceremonies

at
New School for Social Research
66 West 12th Street

Saturday, January 5th, 1935

Two Performances: 7 PM. & 9:30 P.M.
Single Tickets ® Fifty Cents
Subscription to Series ® Two Dollars

Tickets available at i

MAYFAIR BOOKSHOP, 1 East 47th Street
WORKERS’ BOOKSHOP, 50 East 13th Street
FILM & PHOTO LEAGUE, 31 East 21st Street

Tickets obtainable at:
Columbia Bookstore, 116th Street and Broadway
‘Workers’ Bookshop, 50 East 13th Street
N. Y. U. Bookstore, Washington Square
Liberator Office, 2162 Seventh Avenue

Joint Auspices:
Committee to Support League of Struggle for
Negro Rights and Marine Workers’ Committee

146th & 141st St.

Two Bands
Dancing Until 2

TICKETS 75c




WINTER GIFTS

(RUSSIA)

A TORGSIN ORDER

will enable your relatives in the U. S.
S. R. to buy heavy clothing, shoes,
underwear, foodstufls, household uten-
gils, tobaccos and countless other do-
mestic or imported articles. These gifts

will be doubly valued with the oncom-
ing of the long Russian winter.

Prices compare favorably with
those in America

For orders on Torgsin apply to your
local bank or authorized agents.

GENERAL REPRESENTATIVE = U.S.A
at AMTORG, 261 Fifth Ave., N.Y.

The CHICAGO
Friends of NEW MASSES

announce a lecture on

“THE HISTORY OF THE NEW MASSES
AND ITS PLACE IN AMERICAN LIFE”

by JOSEPH EDELMAN

Writer and Lecturer
Attorney for the International Labor Defense

WEDNESDAY
MEDICAL & DENTAL ARTS BUILDING , JANUARY 16 1935
185 NORTH WABASH AVENUE CHICAGO, ILL. AT 8:30 P.
(Room 818) Admission: 10 Cents

This is the first of a series of monthly meetings on
timely topics related to THE NEW MASSES.
All readers and their friends
are invited to attend.

PAUL LUTTINGER, M. D.

and

DANIEL LUTTINGER, M. D.

are now located
b Washington Square North
Office hours: 1—2, 6—8
Telephones:
GRamercy 7-2090 — GRamercy 7-2091

MORE HELP WANTED!

CANVASSERS NOW SELLING SPIVAK'S
“PLOTTING AMERICA’S POGROMS,” are
earning living expenses these depression days.

SUSTAINED EFFORT WILL ULTIMATELY
LEAD TO PERMANENT REMUNERATIVE
WORK SELLING REVOLUTIONARY LIT-
ERATURE.

IF YOU ARE INTERESTED IN BEATING
THE DEPRESSION AND AIDING IN THE
DISSEMINATION OF ANTI-FASCST LIT-
ERATURE, APPLY TO ROOM 45, 31 East
27th Street, between 4:30 and 5:30, Danly

i |
Bargains

for NEW MASSES readers
in both new and refinished

OFFICE FURNITURE

]
Desks — OChairs — Tables
Filing Cabinets — Bookcases
— Folding Chairs —

SQUARE
DEAL

OFFICE FURNITURE &
EQUIPMENT OOMPANY

9 WEST 28th STREET
I Tel: LExington 2-2588

membeisofthe
GROUP THEATRE

who have appeared in “1981,” the Pulitzer Prize Play
“Men in White,” and the current “Gold Eagle Guy”

will present
TWO THRILLING REVOLUTIONARY PLAYS

“DIMITROFF”

by ART SMITH and ELIA KAZAN

“WAITING for LEFTY”

a new play by CLIFFORD ODETS

also the Sunday Evening
F1fty-P1ece Syr;x%}‘lmmc Orchestra JANUARY 13, 1935
e

FIFTH AVENUE THEATRE

PIERRE DEGEYTER CLUB Twenty-eighth Street & Broadway

in a program of TICKETS:
NEW SOVIET MUSIC 30 Cents to 99 Cents
BENEFIT UNITED WORKERS’ ORGANIZATIONS

Tickets obtainable at the Theatre and at the Workers’ Bookshops
50 East 13th St., Manhattan 699 Prospect Avenue, Bronx
369 Sutter Avenue, Brooklyn 58-20 Roosevelt Avenue, Queens

at the

REGISTER NOW! | workers scHooL
35 EAST 12th STREET, NEW YORK

WI N T ER T E R M Telephone: ALgonquin 4-1199

Classes filling up rapidly—many closed.
We urge those wishing to register to do so immediately.
Descriptive catalogue at School office

| ASSOCIATION OF WORKERS IN SOCIAL AGENCIES

Thursday, January 10, 1935

formerly Social Workers Discussion Club 8:30 P. M.

FORUM—Section 7-A N. R. A.—An Analysis. Has it Guaranteed Rights to Labor?
SPEAKERS
Dr. Milton Handler, Professor of Law at Columbia University. Former Counsel
of National Labor Relations Board in Washington.
Dr. Colston E. Warne, Associate Professor of Economics, Amherst College.
Member of National Committee, American League against War and Fascism,

SCHOOL .
E. 17th 8t., at Irving PL, N. Y. O.

Admission: 25 cents

WASHINGTON IRVING HIGH




COME BEHIND THE SCENES IN 1935

Send in your
1935 Subscription
to NEW MASSES

The 1935 stage is set for action, and there’s no room for “innocent
bystanders.” NEw MassEs, America’s only revolutionary weekly,
gives you a behind-the-scenes view of the Roosevelt New Deal, and
all the other acts that are being put on in the name of recovery and
saving the profit system. No make-up, no props—but facts.

P~~~ Start the New Year with NEW M ASSES e ~rr~r~r~r~r~

NEW MASSES
31 East 27th Street
New York, N. Y.

Send me NEW MASSES for [] 1 year, $3.50 [] 6 months, $2 [J 12 weeks, $1 (check which you want).
Remittance is enclosed.

-------------
--------------------------------------------------------------------------
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